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The Argus group 

Building on decades of experience and a strong capital base, Argus 

provides a broad range of insurance, retirement and financial services 

to meet the needs of both businesses and individuals.

our Vision 

Our vision is to be the customer’s first choice for insurance, retirement 

and financial services. We are committed to providing our customers 

with financial security and peace of mind through innovative solutions, 

which provide excellent value.

our Mission

We will achieve our vision by: 

• Focusing first on the needs of the market segments we choose to serve

• Building upon the strength of the Argus name

• Introducing innovative products and enhancements

• Continuing to focus on direct distribution as our primary channel, 

 while developing alternative channels such as intermediaries, strategic 

 partnerships and technology

• Recruiting and retaining the very best people

• Developing knowledgeable people who provide fast, friendly and 

 convenient service to our customers

• Developing our ability to perform as one cross-functional team

• Exploring opportunities to exploit our leading financial performance 

 and capital position
   

In addition, Argus will look for growth opportunities by expanding into 

related business products and services.

our philosophy And VAlues 

As we interact with our colleagues and meet our responsibilities to our 

customers, shareholders and the community, we welcome the challenge 

inherent in change, while adhering to values that remain constant.  

• We do not compromise on individual or corporate honesty or integrity

• We respect every person as an individual

• We actively promote competence and professionalism within our 

 organisation

• We achieve higher levels of performance through teamwork

• We recognise that fairness is critical in reaching decisions

• We promote and acclaim creativity as we strive to achieve our goals
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ARGUS GRoUp 
HoldinGS liMiTEd
Group Holding Company

ARGUS inSURAnCE 
CoMpAnY liMiTEd
Fire and Windstorm 
(Home and Commercial Property), 
Contractors’ All Risks, 
Liability, Marine, Motor, 
Employer’s Indemnity 
(Workers’ Compensation)     

CEnTURion inSURAnCE 
SERViCES liMiTEd
Insurance Agent and Licensed Broker

ARGUS inSURAnCE 
CoMpAnY (EURopE) 
liMiTEd, Gibraltar

Home and Commercial Property, 
Contractors’ All Risks, Liability, 
Marine and Motor

WESTMEd inSURAnCE 
SERViCES liMiTEd, Gibraltar

Insurance Brokerage and Agency

BERMUdA liFE inSURAnCE 
CoMpAnY liMiTEd
Pensions, Group Life and Long-Term 
Disability Insurance, 
Individual Life and Annuities

ARGUS inTERnATionAl 
liFE BERMUdA liMiTEd
Individual Life and Annuities 

ARGUS inTERnATionAl 
liFE inSURAnCE liMiTEd
Individual Life and Annuities 
(74% Interest)

BERMUdA liFE 
WoRldWidE liMiTEd
Individual Life and Annuities 
(in run-off) 

SoMERS iSlES inSURAnCE 
CoMpAnY liMiTEd
Group and Individual Health 
Insurance including: Major Medical, 
Dental and Vision Care

AFl inVESTMEnTS liMiTEd
Investment Management Services 
(60% Interest)

ARGUS inVESTMEnT 
noMinEES liMiTEd
Nominee Company 
(60% Interest)

Argus Group Holdings Limited is a public company, its shares trading on the Bermuda Stock Exchange. At March 31, 2012 it had 

1,233 shareholders; 90 percent of whom were Bermudian, holding 83 percent of the issued shares.

THE ARGUS GRoUp

ARGUS inTERnATionAl 
MAnAGEMEnT liMiTEd
Company Management 

ARGUS MAnAGEMEnT 
SERViCES liMiTEd
Financial and General Management 
Services 

dATA CoMMUniCATionS 
liMiTEd
Information Systems 

ST. MARTin’S REinSURAnCE 
CoMpAnY, lTd.
Financial Reinsurance 
(in run-off)

TRoTT pRopERTY liMiTEd
Property Holding Company 

ARGUS pRopERTY 
(GiBRAlTAR) liMiTEd
Property Holding Company

FoGG inSURAnCE 
AGEnCiES liMiTEd, Malta 

Insurance Agent
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 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008  

For the Year  (In $ thousands) 

Total revenue  154,787 138,188 131,679 32,146 138,224

Earnings/(Loss) for the year  1,696 (6,092) (18,435) (115,701) 15,479

Cash dividends  - 8,414 12,187 13,429 12,692

at Year end  (In $ thousands)

Total General Fund Assets  386,423 533,459 533,887 528,996 643,823

Shareholders’ Equity 83,794 82,406 96,415 114,837 260,665

Financial ratios

Earnings/(Loss) per share – fully diluted  $0.08 $(0.29) $(0.88) ($5.53) $0.73

Return on average Shareholders’ Equity 2.04% (6.81%) (17.45%) (61.62%) 7.07%

shareholder data

Shares in issue  21,511,163 21,511,163 21,511,163 21,485,744 21,441,618 

Book value per share  $3.90 $3.83 $4.48 $5.34 $12.16

number oF emploYees   201 199 171 176 173 

    

FiVE YEAR SUMMARY

Financial and Shareholder Data 
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At The Reading Clinic, children are empowered to address and overcome their learning 

challenges and build on their strengths. Sponsoring their programmes underlines our 

strong belief that securing a better future takes effort and commitment. 

performanceperformance
Argus. Working for a brighter future
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the Year in review

The Argus Group reports net earnings of $1.7 million 

for the year ended March 31, 2012 compared to a loss of 

$6.1 million for the previous year – a welcome return to 

profit after a challenging period. Although modest, this 

profit is underpinned by strong business fundamentals 

as stated in earlier reports to Shareholders. These are 

primarily: continued strong performance from the core 

business operations and the ongoing efforts to optimise 

the Balance Sheet and capital structure in a considered 

and orderly fashion.

Shareholders’ Equity now stands at $83.8 million, sub-

stantially in excess of the statutory capital required to 

conduct the Group’s various insurance businesses.  

Without investment-related losses during the year 

ended March 31, 2012, the earnings from operations 

would have produced net income of approximately 

$18 million for the year, generated once again through 

achieving very high client retention levels while sub-

stantially exceeding our new business targets across 

most business lines. The main contributor to the invest-

ment-related losses was the write down of our invest-

ment in Northstar Group Holdings, Ltd. (Northstar) 

by $11 million as disclosed in the Half Year Report to 

September 30, 2011 and as more fully reported in Note 

4.2 to the attached financial statements. It is pleasing 

to report that by March 31, 2012, following interim 

distributions from contributed surplus to Northstar 

shareholders, Argus received over $20 million in cash. 

The residual balance of the investment in Northstar is 

now represented by a fully collateralised and perform-

ing three-year loan of $2 million to another Northstar 

shareholder. In the meantime, the Group continues 

to pursue the recovery of the recent $11 million write 

down to the fullest extent afforded under law.

It is management’s belief that this year-end result 

represents a significant milestone marking the end 

of challenging legacy issues in the investment arena.  

The Balance Sheet now faces substantially less exposure 

to risks arising from non-core investments and will 

enable the Group to build on its history of over 60 years’ 

service to Bermuda. Despite less than favourable invest-

ment market conditions, the lingering recession and 

an increasingly competitive marketplace, the Group 

has attained its overall business targets and delivered                         

a strong operating performance for the year ended 

March 31, 2012. Your Board and management are confi-

dent of the return to more ‘normal’ times for the Group.

In addition, the Group has made good strategic prog-

ress, focusing on markets where Argus can grow and 

earn higher returns. Accordingly, we remain confident 

the Argus Group is well positioned for the future.

During March 2012, A.M. Best recognised the success 

of our operating units and confirmed our financial 

strength of B++ (Good) and issuer credit ratings of bbb.  

Naturally, your Board and management are disap-

pointed that they revised the outlook to negative from 

stable. Management are committed to addressing the 

comments made by A.M. Best.

During the year a number of the Group’s insurance 

entities participated in the trial filings of new enhanced 

capital returns to our various regulators. Somers Isles 

Insurance Company and Argus Insurance Company 

Limited issued their first Commercial Insurer’s Solvency     

Self-Assessment (CISSA) as part of the Bermuda Solvency 

Capital Requirement (BSCR) with the Bermuda  

Monetary Authority while Argus Insurance Company 

(Europe) Limited filed its Quantitative Impact Study 

5 (QIS5) under Solvency II with the Financial Services 

REpoRT To SHAREHoldERS
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Commission in Gibraltar. These filings confirmed man-

agement’s belief that the Group’s insurance entities 

are more than adequately capitalised which ensures 

policyholder protection and will enable future growth 

of the Group.

During the year under review, the Company’s share 

price fluctuated between $5.25 and $3.90. This should 

be compared to the book value of the Company’s shares 

in issue, net of those held in Treasury, of $3.98 per share 

at the Balance Sheet date.

The Board believes that it is important for the Group 

to maintain a capital base that is well in excess of the 

minimum statutory requirements. In July 2011, the 

Board decided to suspend temporarily the payment of 

a dividend to shareholders. Shareholders will note that 

the Board considers the declaration of a dividend each 

quarter and is determined to resume the payment of 

dividends from operating profits as soon as it is prudent 

to do so.

international Financial reporting 

standards (iFrs)

The accompanying audited annual financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with IFRS for the first 

time. The Group’s date of transition to IFRS was April 

1, 2010. A full explanation of how the transition from 

Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

(Canadian GAAP) to IFRS has affected the reported 

consolidated financial position, financial performance 

and cash flows of the Group is provided in Note 31. 

While the effects on the Group’s earnings from report-

ing under IFRS versus Canadian GAAP were not mate-

rial, the amount of disclosure in the attached Financial 

Statements has been substantially enhanced.

Financial results

The Net Earnings for the Year attributable to Shareholders of 

the Company for the year ended March 31, 2012 was $1.7 

million compared to a net loss of $6.1 million for the 

previous year. The Earnings per share was $0.08 compared 

to a loss of $0.29 per share last year.

As at March 31, 2012, Total Assets including Segregated 

Fund Assets, stood at $1.7 billion, and Shareholders’ Equity 

increased to $83.8 million from $82.4 million one year 

earlier.

Net premiums written increased by eight percent. This is 

as a result of a combination of new business and appro-

priate adjustments to premiums in order to achieve 

acceptable underwriting ratios. Overall, Net Benefits 

and Claims increased by seven percent over the prior 

year primarily due to higher claims in local and over-

seas healthcare services and in property and casualty 

businesses.

Investment income, Change in fair value of investments and 

Share of (loss)/earnings of associates continued to present 

challenges during the year ended March 31, 2012. The 

main contributing factors that suppressed investment 

earnings in the year were the provision of $11 million 

against the Group’s investment in Northstar, reduc-

tions of $2 million in the equity pick up of Investments 

in associates in Bermuda due to the depressed local 

economy and net realised losses of $3 million on the 

sale of certain equities. 

Revenues from Commissions, management fees and other 

rose by seven percent compared to 2011, primarily 

reflecting the increase in the market value of assets 

under management in the Group’s various investment-

related businesses and the continued growth of ceding 

and profit commissions earned from property and 

casualty operations.

The increase in Operating expenses and Amortisation and 

depreciation is largely attributable to additional invest-

ment in the infrastructure of the European operations 

net of the one-off reduction in the prior year of the 

Group’s Post-employment benefits liability of $4.2 million. 
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Interest on loan has decreased with the continued reduc-

tion of the loan taken out to fund the construction of 

the corporate headquarters at 14 Wesley Street. This 

loan will be fully repaid in the forthcoming year which 

will eliminate all debt from the Group’s Balance Sheet. 

propertY and casualtY, bermuda

Despite intense and overtly aggressive competition in 

the marketplace, the division continues to maintain                                  

its approach of disciplined underwriting, combined 

with an ongoing commitment to superior, proactive 

customer service. This has resulted in high levels of 

retention, which, in turn, has produced a solid under-

writing result for the year.

The fire portfolio, which protects our insureds from 

fire and windstorm damage among other perils, once 

again produced acceptable results. This is due to a 

catastrophe-free year, for which we are thankful, com-

bined with cost containment measures which include 

cross-training, further streamlining of processes and 

the efficiencies delivered by our new underwriting 

administration platform.

The division recently launched an innovative new prod-

uct “Home Essentials”, aimed at our senior population. 

The product, which has been well received, is designed 

and priced to benefit this growing segment of our com-

munity, many of whom are on a fixed income. 

The accident and marine portfolios performed within 

planned parameters and continue to contribute to the 

overall profitability of the division.

propertY and casualtY, europe

This division operates in Gibraltar and Malta where, 

overall, double-digit premium growth was recorded for 

the fifth consecutive year as a result of further improve-

ments in client retention and strong new business  

figures. Despite several large claims, including an 

October 2011 storm event in Gibraltar and a marine 

cargo loss in Malta, both territories increased under-

writing profits, and achieved further improvements in 

all key claims metrics.

In both jurisdictions there is evidence of increased 

cross-border competition. However, a number of oppor-

tunities to expand our operations further, both organi-

cally and strategically, are under active review for the 

forthcoming year.

The new underwriting administration platform, already 

successfully installed in Bermuda, was launched in 

Gibraltar in May 2012 and will be introduced into  

Malta later this year.  

The investment in staff training has continued with 

over 50 percent of our European staff now studying 

for professional qualifications. The quality of our staff 

provides a sustainable competitive advantage in both 

markets.

group health, liFe and 

long-term disabilitY

Group health, along with our other group insurance 

products, life, long-term disability, short-term disabil-

ity and workers’ compensation performed in line with 

expectations this year despite the difficult economic 

environment. 

Whilst business retention levels were high for group 

health, more employers reduced their level of benefit 

coverage and switched to lower cost plans. As more 

employers opt for these lower cost plans, the restricted 

benefit offerings in these plans have led to some con-

tainment of incurred claims. The division experienced 

further success in claims containment following a year 

of aggressive negotiations with overseas medical facili-

ties and continuing efforts made locally to ensure that 

clients receive the best value services for their premium. 

This division, which administers one of the largest 

health insurance portfolios in Bermuda, has recently 

completed its most challenging renewal period ever. 

Healthcare costs continue to rise at a rate well above 
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inflation at a time when the recession in Bermuda is 

threatening the very viability of many businesses. As 

a result, employers and their employees are finding 

it increasingly difficult to afford any increase in pre-

miums. Two years ago Argus introduced its lower-cost 

option, the Signal Plan, which has proven to be very 

attractive to many employers who wish to contain 

health insurance premiums. Regrettably, an increase in 

premium delinquencies and a decline in the number of 

insureds as a result of business closures and redundan-

cies have become evident. The reduction in the number 

of guest workers has led to an increase in the average 

age of Bermuda’s insured population, which will lead 

to even higher claims costs in the future. The highly 

experienced team of experts at Argus Health is working 

closely with clients to explain these health insurance 

trends and to develop ways to maintain an adequate 

level of protection at an affordable premium. Every 

effort is also being made to contain health claims costs 

and internal administration costs so that these savings 

can be passed on to clients. 

While Bermuda’s system of health insurance has been 

successful for over 40 years, it is recognised as being 

no longer sustainable. The Government-sponsored 

National Health Plan aims to address the challenges of 

bringing healthcare inflation into line with the general 

level of inflation. Work to develop the details of the 

plan has begun and we are proud that five senior Argus 

employees were selected to serve on various task groups; 

namely, those dealing with benefit design, overseas 

care, health promotion and the all important finance 

and reimbursement task force.

One of the Group’s core values is wellness. We believe 

that one way to control rising healthcare costs is to 

reduce the utilisation of services by living healthy life-

styles. This year, our Argus Wellness plan has continued 

actively to promote prevention and early detection. 

In March 2012, the Argus annual health fair was rede-

signed and renamed the Argus Healthy Living Expo. 

This highly successful event was much larger than                

in previous years with more participants and visitors 

than ever before. However, the focus remains on getting 

Argus insureds and the wider community excited about 

healthy living, exercise and wellness.

pensions

Despite the ongoing volatility in investment markets, 

pension assets under management have continued to 

increase and the client base has remained stable over 

the year. The economic downturn has resulted in sever-

al business closures, staff terminations and early retire-

ment of employees. Argus Pensions experts have been 

on hand to provide assistance and support to employees 

and employers during these very challenging times.

Two legislative changes have been introduced to pro-

vide relief to pension plan members and employers who 

may be facing financial challenges. Financial Hardship 

Withdrawal Regulations were introduced in July 2010. 

Since then close to $1 million has been withdrawn by 

Argus pension plan members, with 50 percent of the 

withdrawals being used for educational purposes.

The National Pension Scheme (Occupational Pensions) 

Temporary Amendment Act 2012 (the Act) has recently 

been passed by the legislature. The Act, which came 

into operation on August 1, 2012, allows employers and/

or members temporarily to suspend mandatory pension 

contributions within the twelve months from the com-

mencement date by mutual agreement. The amend-

ment, which applies to registered plans only, has been 

introduced to provide relief for employers and/or mem-

bers who may be facing financial difficulties due to the 

current challenges in the local economy. Argus is help-

ing employers to understand the long-term financial 

impact of a temporary contribution suspension so that 

they can provide the right advice to their employees.
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The Bermuda Sloop Foundation is positioned to teach young adults to build strength and 

knowledge in the skills of leadership, teambuilding and personal development through 

learning experiences aboard the Spirit of Bermuda. These are attributes that align with 

our values, which is why we have chosen to provide the office space they need to fulfil 

this worthy endeavour. 

positioningpositioning
Argus. strength through teamwork.
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At the year end, Argus Pensions completed the trans-

fer of all remaining group pension investments into  

a separate account under Segregated Fund Assets. This 

means that such assets are legally “ring fenced” and 

kept separate from any and all other liabilities and 

creditors of the Argus Group.   

During the year, Argus Pensions announced several  

initiatives that include the following: 

•	 The launch of a 401k plan with US partners to allow 

American employees to take advantage of tax relief 

under section 401(k) of the US Internal Revenue 

Code.  

•	 An expanded selection of self-directed investment 

options that allows members to choose from world-

class funds. The self-directed option is most appro-

priate for sophisticated investors or those who  

have independent investment advisors who can 

assist with the selection and monitoring of the  

fund choices. 

•	 An expanded selection of complimentary market 

updates, educational workshops and retirement 

planning sessions geared to individuals at various 

stages of their lives. 

•	 The introduction of a number of calculators on 

the Argus Group website, www.argus.bm to assist 

employees with preparing for their retirement, 

reaching a personal financial goal or determining 

how much they should be setting aside for their 

children’s education. These tools are user-friendly 

and designed specifically for residents of Bermuda.

international liFe and annuities

Through a combination of portfolio acquisition and 

new sales of life and annuity policies globally, over $38 

million of new premium was received in Segregated 

Funds in the year ended March 31, 2012. Equity mar-

kets gained significantly in the final quarter of 2011 

through the first quarter of 2012 which led to increased 

fee income on existing business. As at March 31, 2012, 

the pipeline of new enquiries had gained momentum 

and has increased significantly over previous years. 

Management remains confident that this division will 

increase its contribution to the Group’s net earnings in 

the years to come.

aFl investments (aFl)

As the volatility in world markets continued this year, 

our clients have appreciated AFL’s focus on portfolio 

risk mitigation. One of the major challenges for inves-

tors has been the continuing low interest rate environ-

ment and AFL is pleased to announce the addition of 

another of the world’s leading fixed income managers, 

Income Research & Management, Inc. to its impressive 

list of fund managers.   

For some time, AFL has noticed that small to medium 

sized institutional clients on island had very few innova-

tive investment options available to them. AFL success-

fully launched a new product line through the introduc-

tion to Bermuda of institutional and captive products 

used by our joint venture partner, Cidel Bank & Trust 

Inc. Strong interest has been shown to date towards 

these products.

sales and marketing 

The strategy of building long-term value-adding rela-

tionships with clients has been critical to the Group’s 

client retention strategy throughout the year. Although 

competitors continued to approach the Argus client 

base, our clients have remained loyal and we are very 

grateful for their continued support.

The Group’s growth strategy in 2012 has been focused 

on maintaining underwriting integrity, managing for 

value rather than volume, and cross-selling to existing 

clients both in Bermuda and in Europe. 

We aim to continue to be the best choice to provide 

protection and prosperity to business clients and their 

employees, along with helping customers to manage 

the risks of everyday living and protecting them long 

into the future.
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It is clear in these challenging times that expanding our 

product range and building a diverse range of distribu-

tion channels is key as our customers demand more 

choice and greater flexibility.

Continued growth in sales this year demonstrated the 

strength and depth of the Argus Group across all lines 

of business and distribution channels, including com-

mercial property, personal lines, international life and 

group employee benefits. 

inFormation technologY (it)

The Group performed a strategic review of its use of 

technology in the latter part of the year following the 

arrival of the new Vice President, IT. As a consequence, 

a migration away from legacy systems has now com-

menced, along with a move towards industry standard 

development and application platforms. This will allow 

the Group to provide IT capabilities more efficiently                                   

and quickly than before.

The benefits of this approach are already being seen 

with the delivery of a common property and casualty 

underwriting administration application across all  

jurisdictions in which the Argus Group operates.

IT is working to ensure that there are technology 

platforms and solutions in place that can be utilised 

throughout the Group, regardless of where they are 

located or maintained. The increasing need to support 

clients and colleagues on a 24/7 basis is leading to the 

development of centres of excellence that can be lever-

aged everywhere within the Group through the focused 

use of technology.

risk & compliance governance

The risk management and internal control framework 

within the Group is based upon the Bermuda Monetary 

Authority’s (the BMA) Insurance Code of Conduct (the 

Code), Solvency II directives, Committee of Sponsoring 

Organisations of the Treadway Commission’s (COSO) 

Internal Control – Integrated Framework, and Risk 

Management – Principles and Guidelines, International 

Organisation for Standardisation (ISO 31000, 2009).

During the year, the BMA conducted an on-site assess-

ment of the compliance by the Group with the Code 

and an implementation plan for Solvency II was submit-

ted to the regulators in Gibraltar and Malta. Further, 

Group-wide risk assessment workshops were conducted 

along with continued training courses for all staff in 

the Group’s anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist 

financing policies and procedures.

human resources

In September 2011, Mr. Martin Gutteridge, a Bermudi-

an, joined the Group as Head of IT. In this position, he  

develops overall corporate information systems strate-

gy, identifies new computer technology and determines 

applicability to the organisation’s long-term business 

needs.

In June 2012, another Bermudian, Mrs. Lynne Wool-

ridge, joined as the Head of International Life respon-

sible for the overall management and development of 

the Group’s life and annuity operations. 

Also in June 2012, Mr. Alex Cabe was hired as Group  

Investment Manager after an extensive recruitment                                         

process which began in October 2011. In this new role, 

Mr. Cabe will actively drive the adoption, continuous  

development and improvement of the investment                                              

management processes and practices.

Mr. Gerald Simons retired as President in May 2012,  

after over 40 years of service with the Argus Group. 

He remains as a non-executive Board member of Argus 

Group Holdings Limited and as a consultant to the                                       

management team particularity on matters relating                       

to the National Health Plan.

The ongoing success of the Argus Group is dependent 

on the quality, capability and engagement of our staff.  

A number of important staff-related initiatives have     

been implemented during the year, that continue to  



Sheila E. nicoll
ChaIrMan

Alison S. Hill 
ChIef exeCutIve offICer

 12  2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report 

develop the Argus customer-focused approach. The  

Effective Personal Productivity training programme 

is aimed at focusing leadership efforts on successful 

achievement of our highest business priorities. A cross-

functional business process improvement methodology 

was introduced to enhance our client delivery processes. 

A new system was launched to improve the responsive-

ness to customer feedback, enhance operational proce-

dures and to ensure compliance with the BMA Insurance 

Code of Conduct. Employee engagement is critical to                                                     

our success. A strategy promoting cross-functional initia-

tives including company-wide workgroups and ‘Ideas to  

Action’ teams was implemented. The Group continued 

to measure the level of staff engagement via completion 

of our second annual employee opinion survey.

communitY

The Argus Group takes its responsibility to support the 

community very seriously, particularly during periods 

of social and economic turmoil. The Group actively 

supports organisations and community events for the 

benefit of all in Bermuda. The Group’s corporate giving 

programme continues to focus on the theme of preven-

tion as Argus is in the business of helping our clients 

prevent financial and physical misfortune. Argus has 

supported a selection of charities that are making a 

positive difference in the community and in the lives 

of young people in particular. Our largest donation 

was to The Reading Clinic to help expand their facili-

ties and the number of children that they can support. 

Other charity partnerships in the year were: Bermuda 

Heart Foundation, Crime Stoppers Bermuda, Bermuda 

Diabetes Association, Knowledge Quest, Big Brothers  

Big Sisters of Bermuda, Bermuda School of Music and 

the Bermuda Sloop Foundation.

Forward looking statements

Certain statements in this report may be deemed to 

include ‘forward looking statements’ and are based on 

management’s current expectations and are subject 

to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. Actual 

results may differ materially from those included in 

these statements due to a variety of factors including 

worldwide economic conditions, success in business 

retention and obtaining new business and other factors.

note oF appreciation

On behalf of your Board and Management, we would 

like to express our appreciation to Mr. Christopher 

Trott who retired from the Board of Argus Group 

Holdings Limited during the period under review. We 

thank him for his many years of service.

Finally, we wish to thank our Shareholders and custom-

ers for their continued support, and acknowledge and 

commend the hard work and commitment of our staff.

August 6, 2012
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The vision of Big Brothers Big Sisters of Bermuda is to create consistent, long-term 

relationships between our young people and positive role models so that they can reach 

their full potential. We believe this shows commitment to sustainability in Bermuda’s 

future, a trait we support wholeheartedly.

progressionprogression
Argus. Creating meaningful partnerships



MAnAGEMEnT’S RESponSiBiliTY FoR THE FinAnCiAl STATEMEnTS

 14  2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and other financial information in this Annual Report have been 
prepared by the Group’s management, which is responsible for their integrity, consistency, objectivity and reliability. 
To fulfill this responsibility, the Group maintains policies, procedures and systems of internal control to ensure that its 
reporting practices and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate to provide a high degree of assurance 
that relevant and reliable financial information is produced and assets are safeguarded. These controls include the care-
ful selection and training of employees, the establishment of well-defined areas of responsibility and accountability for 
performance, and the communication of policies and a code of conduct throughout the Group. In addition, the Group 
maintains an Internal Auditor who conducts periodic audits of all aspects of the Group’s operations. The Internal Auditor 
has full access to the Audit Committee.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and, where appropriate, reflect estimates based on management’s judgment. The financial information 
presented throughout this Annual Report is generally consistent with the information contained in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.

KPMG, the independent chartered accountants appointed by the Shareholders, have examined the consolidated financial 
statements set out on pages 16 through 81 in accordance with International Standards on Auditing to enable them to 
express to the shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Their report is shown opposite.

The consolidated financial statements have been further reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors acting 
through the Audit Committee, which is comprised of directors who are not officers or employees of the Group. The Audit 
Committee, which meets with the auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the Board of 
Directors, oversees management’s responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal control systems. The auditors 
have full and direct access to the Audit Committee and meet periodically with the committee, both with and without 
management present, to discuss their audit and related findings.

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on August 6, 2012.    

August 6, 2012 

Alison S. Hill 
ChIef exeCutIve offICer

david W. pugh
ChIef fInanCIaL offICer
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Chartered Accountants
Hamilton, Bermuda

To THE SHAREHoldERS oF ARGUS GRoUp HoldinGS liMiTEd And SUBSidiARiES

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Argus Group Holdings Limited (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and April 1, 2010, and the 
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income/(loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended 
March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

MAnAGEMEnT’S RESponSiBiliTY FoR THE ConSolidATEd FinAnCiAl STATEMEnTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

AUdiToRS’ RESponSiBiliTY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Argus Group Holdings Limited as at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and April 1, 2010, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011 in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

August 6, 2012
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    march 31  MARCh 31 APRIL 1
(In $ thousands) Note 2012    2011 2010 

assets
Cash and short-term investments   46,127   26,245 22,313
Interest and dividends receivable   404   850 820
Investments  3 185,068   304,394 360,149
Investment in associates  4 11,404   46,449 13,633
Receivable for investments sold    -    12,672 -
Insurance balances receivable   5 22,164    18,372 10,463
Reinsurers’ share of:   
 Claims provisions   12 11,573   13,758 18,058
 Unearned premiums   12 10,860   10,463 9,811
Investment properties   6 7,010   7,006 6,949
Other assets  7 7,083   6,393 6,166
Deferred policy acquisition costs  8 2,295   2,135 1,746
Property and equipment   9 75,648   76,754 77,656
Intangible assets  11 6,787   7,968 6,123

ToTAl GEnERAl FUnd ASSETS    386,423    533,459 533,887
ToTAl SEGREGATEd FUnd ASSETS   27 1,334,693    1,162,743 1,169,276

ToTAl ASSETS    1,721,116    1,696,202 1,703,163

liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities 12 190,932    184,563 184,466
Insurance balances payable 16 12,751    14,613 9,468
Investment contract liabilities 13 69,764   192,059 180,290
Payable for investments purchased  -    20,821 -
Tax payable  188    249 121
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    14,730  17,088 15,885
Dividend payable   -   2,103 2,103
Note payable  -    - 16,750
Loan payable  17 7,843   13,843 19,843
Post-employment benefit liability 15 4,078   3,625 6,076

ToTAl GEnERAl FUnd liABiliTiES    300,286    448,964 435,002
ToTAl SEGREGATEd FUnd liABiliTiES   27 1,334,693    1,162,743 1,169,276

ToTAl liABiliTiES   1,634,979    1,611,707 1,604,278

equitY
Attributable to Shareholders of the Company     
 Share capital  16,433    16,426 16,436
 Contributed surplus  52,737    52,629 52,382
 Retained earnings  15,913    14,217 28,723
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (1,289)    (866) (1,126)

ToTAl EqUiTY ATTRiBUTABlE To SHAREHoldERS oF THE CoMpAnY  83,794    82,406 96,415

Attributable to non-controlling interests    2,343    2,089 2,470

ToTAl EqUiTY   86,137    84,495 98,885

ToTAl EqUiTY And liABiliTiES  1,721,116     1,696,202 1,703,163

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

ConSolidATEd BAlAnCE SHEET



2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report      17

ConSolidATEd STATEMEnT oF opERATionS 

For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands, except per share data) Note 2012    2011 

     

 

revenue
Gross premiums written  167,985   157,087
Reinsurance ceded    (42,507)  (41,175)

Net premiums written    125,478     115,912
Net change in unearned premiums 19 274  (624)

Net premiums earned       125,752    115,288
Investment income 3.6 3,862   3,101
Change in fair value of investments 3.7 3,805   (12,840)
Share of (loss)/earnings of associates 4 (12,197)   1,312
Commissions, management fees and other 22 33,565  31,327

   154,787   138,188

expenses
Policy benefits  15,927  15,062
Claims and adjustment expenses      91,077     88,281
Reinsurance recoveries     20 (11,126)     (9,300)
Gross change in contract liabilities     21 6,301     (994)
Change in reinsurers’ share of claims provisions     21 2,180     4,376

nET BEnEFiTS And ClAiMS  104,359   97,425
Commission expenses     3,481   3,234
Operating expenses   23 39,007   36,357
Amortisation and depreciation  9 ; 11 5,350   5,857
Interest on loan 17 528  812

   152,725   143,685

EARninGS/(loSS) BEFoRE inCoME TAxES     2,062   (5,497)
Income taxes 26 112  176

nET EARninGS/(loSS) FoR THE YEAR  1,950   (5,673)

Attributable to:          
 Shareholders of the Company    1,696   (6,092)
 Non-controlling interests    254   419

   1,950 (5,673)

Earnings/(loss) per share: 18 
 basic    0.08 (0.29)
 fully diluted    0.08 (0.29)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands)  2012    2011

nET EARninGS/(loSS) FoR THE YEAR     1,950   (5,673)

oTHER CoMpREHEnSiVE (loSS)/inCoME
Change in unrealised losses on available for sale investments 
 Unrealised losses arising during the year  (35)  (691)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates
 Unrealised gains arising during the year  - 354
 Reclassification of realised gains to net earnings/(loss)  (305)   (218)
Change in unrealised (losses)/gains on translating financial statements of 
 foreign operations    (83) 815

oTHER CoMpREHEnSiVE (loSS)/inCoME FoR THE YEAR    (423)     260

CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME/(loSS) FoR THE YEAR    1,527     (5,413)

oTHER CoMpREHEnSiVE (loSS)/inCoME ATTRiBUTABlE To:       
 Shareholders of the Company   (423)   260
 Non-controlling interests    -   -

      (423)     260

CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME/(loSS) ATTRiBUTABlE To:       
 Shareholders of the Company   1,273   (5,832)
 Non-controlling interests    254   419

      1,527     (5,413)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ConSolidATEd STATEMEnT 
oF CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME/(loSS) 
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For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands) Note 2012    2011 

  

share capital
Authorised:    

25,000,000 common shares of $1.00 each (2011 – 25,000,000)   25,000   25,000

Issued and fully paid, beginning of year 21,511,163 shares 
 (2011 – 21,511,163 shares)  21,511   21,511
Deduct: Shares held in Treasury, at cost 478,223 shares  
 (2011 – 478,931 shares)  (5,078)   (5,085)

ToTAl, nET oF SHARES HEld in TREASURY, End oF YEAR    16,433     16,426

contributed surplus         
Balance, beginning of year       52,629    52,382
Stock-based compensation expense   24 108    247

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR  52,737  52,629

retained earnings 
Balance, beginning of year  14,217 28,723
Net earnings/(loss) for the year   1,696  (6,092)
Cash dividends  - (8,414)

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR  15,913 14,217

accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/income 
Balance, beginning of year    (866)   (1,126)  
Change in unrealised losses on available-for-sale investments    (35)   (691)
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of associates   (305)   136
Change in unrealised (losses)/gains on translating financial statements 
 of foreign operations  (83) 815

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR 29 (1,289) (866)

ToTAl EqUiTY ATTRiBUTABlE To SHAREHoldERS oF THE CoMpAnY  83,794 82,406

Attributable to non-controlling interests
 Balance, beginning of year    2,089  2,470
 Net earnings for the year    254  419
 Cash dividends    -  (800)

ToTAl EqUiTY ATTRiBUTABlE To non-ConTRollinG inTERESTS    2,343    2,089

ToTAl EqUiTY    86,137    84,495

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ConSolidATEd STATEMEnT oF CHAnGES in EqUiTY
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For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands)  2012    2011

operating activities
Earnings/(loss) before income taxes  2,062   (5,497)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings/(loss) to cash basis (Footnote (i) below)    11,422   17,454
Change in operating balances (Footnote (ii) below)    14,772   10,129
Interest income received    5,316   4,484
Dividend income received    1,344   2,817
Income tax paid    (172)   (57)

CASH GEnERATEd FRoM opERATinG ACTiViTiES    34,744   29,330

investing activities
Purchase of investments    (1,761,683)   (556,968)
Sale of investments    1,895,862  570,378 
Transfer of investments to segregated funds  (136,889)  -
Purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired  - (2,619)
Purchase of property and equipment  (3,254) (3,760)
Purchase of intangible assets    (251)   -

CASH USEd in/GEnERATEd FRoM inVESTinG ACTiViTiES    (6,215)   7,031

Financing activities
Dividends paid to Shareholders   (2,103)  (8,414)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  -  (800)
Acquisitions of shares held in Treasury  7  (10)
Repayment of note payable  -  (16,750)
Repayment of loan    (6,000)  (6,000)
Interest paid on loan   (528)  (812)

CASH USEd in FinAnCinG ACTiViTiES    (8,624)   (32,786)

EFFECT oF FoREiGn ExCHAnGE RATE CHAnGES on CASH 
And SHoRT-TERM inVESTMEnTS  (23) 357

nET inCREASE in CASH And SHoRT-TERM inVESTMEnTS    19,882   3,932
CASH And SHoRT-TERM inVESTMEnTS, beginning of year  26,245   22,313

CASH And SHoRT-TERM inVESTMEnTS, end of year     46,127 26,245

Footnotes
(i)  Interest income    (8,985)  (9,027)
  Dividend income   (1,942)  (4,226)
  Investment income related to the Deposit administration pension plans  4,713 5,924
  Net realised gains/(losses) on sale of investments   1,406  (11,774)
  Amortisation of net premium/discount of bonds   1,141  611
  Change in fair value of investments  (3,797) 12,840
  Impairment losses  711 17,502
  Share of loss/(earnings) of associates  12,197 (1,312)
  Change in fair value of investment property  (8) -
  Depreciation of property and equipment  4,359 4,719
  Amortisation of intangible assets  991  1,138 
  Interest on loan  528  812
  Expense on vesting of stock-based compensation  108  247

         11,422 17,454

(ii) Insurance balances receivable   (3,805)   (6,319) 
   Reinsurers’ share of:   
     Claims provisions   2,179 4,395
     Unearned premiums  (404) (537)
  Other assets   (693)  (235)
  Deferred policy acquisition costs   (165)  (302)
  Insurance contract liabilities    6,426 (844)
  Insurance balances payable   (1,858) 5,106
  Investment contract liabilities    14,594 11,769
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (1,955) (453)
  Post-employment benefit liability  453 (2,451)

         14,772 10,129

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ConSolidATEd STATEMEnT oF CASH FloWS 
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noTES To THE ConSolidATEd FinAnCiAl STATEMEnTS
March 31, 2012                                                      

(In $ thousands except for per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

1 operations

  Argus Group Holdings Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability on May 26, 2005 as 
a holding company and has its registered office at the Argus Building, 14 Wesley Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. 
The Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) operates predominantly in Bermuda, Gibraltar and Malta underwrit-
ing life, health, property and casualty insurance. The Group also provides investment, savings and retirement prod-
ucts, and offers a range of administrative services including company management and accounting services.  

 The Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:  
 Argus Insurance Company Limited   Fogg Insurance Agencies Limited, Malta 

Centurion Insurance Services Limited AFL Investments Limited
 Argus Insurance Company (Europe) Limited, Gibraltar  Argus Investment Nominees Limited 
 Westmed Insurance Services Limited, Gibraltar  Argus International Management Limited
 Bermuda Life Insurance Company Limited Argus Management Services Limited
 Argus International Life Bermuda Limited Data Communications Limited
 Argus International Life Insurance Limited St. Martin’s Reinsurance Company, Ltd.
 Bermuda Life Worldwide Limited Trott Property Limited   
 Somers Isles Insurance Company Limited Argus Property (Gibraltar) Limited

 On March 31, 2012, Argus Property Limited amalgamated with Bermuda Life Insurance Company Limited.

2 signiFicant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are discussed 
below and are applied consistently.

2.1  statement oF compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). These are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

The Group’s date of transition to IFRS was April 1, 2010 (date of transition). An explanation of how the transition from 
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (Canadian GAAP) to IFRS has affected the reported consolidated 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group is provided in Note 31. 

2.2  basis oF presentation  

2.2.1  Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been compiled on the going concern basis and prepared on the historical 
cost basis except for the following material items on the Consolidated Balance Sheet:
• Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) are measured at fair value;
• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value;
• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
• Investment properties are measured at fair value;
• Certain segregated fund assets and liabilities are measured at fair value; and 
• Post-employment benefit liability is measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligation.

The Consolidated Balance Sheet is presented in order of decreasing liquidity. 

2.2.2  presentation currency

All amounts, excluding per share data or where otherwise stated, are in thousands of Bermuda dollars, which is the 
Group’s presentation currency and which is on par with U.S. dollars. 

2.2.3 Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,                            
revenues and expenses. Actual results will differ from those estimates. 
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Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recog-
nised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:
Note 2.4  – foreign currency translation;
Note 2.9  – insurance contracts and investment contracts;
Note 2.16 and Note 30.1 – leases and operating leases;
Note 4  – investment in associates; and
Note 6  – investment properties.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment within the next financial year is included in the following notes:
Note 2.7 – impairment of assets;
Note 3 and Note 13 – investments and investment contract liabilities;
Note 12  – insurance contract liabilities; and
Note 15 – post-employment benefit liability.

2.3   basis oF consolidation

2.3.1  Business combinations

Acquisitions on or after April 1, 2010

The Group uses the acquisition method to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. At the date of acquisition, the 
Group recognises the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of the overall business combination 
transaction at their fair value. Recognition of these items is subject to the definitions of assets and liabilities in accor-
dance with the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) Framework for the Preparation and Presentation 
of Financial Statements. The Group may also recognise intangible items not previously recognised by the acquired 
entity, such as customer lists.

The Group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interest at its fair value, or 
at its proportionate share of the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date. Transaction 
costs that the Group incurs in connection with the business combination are expensed as incurred.

Acquisitions prior to April 1, 2010

As part of its transition to IFRS, the Group elected to restate only those business combinations that occurred on or 
after April 1, 2010. In respect of acquisitions prior to April 1, 2010, the non-controlling interest and transaction cost 
represent the amount recognised under Canadian GAAP.

Amalgamation transactions

Under a business combination where entities under common control are amalgamated, the carrying values of the 
assets and liabilities of the entities are combined, with any gain or loss on amalgamation recognised in equity. Trans-
actions arising from the amalgamation of the entities under common control are eliminated in the Group’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

2.3.2  Subsidiaries

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
after all significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The accounting policies of subsid-
iaries have been changed where necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity, so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. This is assessed from both a legal and economic perspective. Entities are fully consolidated from 
the date control is obtained by the Company or one of its subsidiaries. 

Losses applicable to the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary are allocated to non-controlling interests even if doing 
so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

2.3.3  investment in associates 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and  
operational policies. Significant influence is normally presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 
percent of the voting power of another entity. 



Investment in associates is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Thereafter, these invest-
ments are measured using the equity method. Under the equity method, the Group records its proportionate share 
of income and loss from such investments on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and its proportionate share 
of Other Comprehensive Income on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss). Certain associates 
have different accounting policies from the Group and, as a result, adjustments have been made to align the associ-
ate’s accounting policies with the Group.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an Investment in associates, the carrying amount of that inter-
est is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an 
obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

2.4   Foreign currencY translation

2.4.1  Translation of transactions in foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are prepared in the currency in which they 
conduct their ordinary course of business, which is referred to as the functional currency. Monetary assets and liabili-
ties denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company or its subsidiaries are translated 
into the functional currency using rates of exchange at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated 
at rates of exchange in effect on the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses are reflected in Operating 
expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

2.4.2  Translation to the presentation currency

The financial statements of foreign operations are translated from their respective functional currencies to Bermuda 
dollars, the Group’s presentation currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange at the balance 
sheet date, and income and expenses are translated using the average rates of exchange. The accumulated gains or 
losses arising from translation of functional currencies to the presentation currency are included in Other compre-
hensive income on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss).

2.5  cash and short-term investments

Cash and short-term investments include cash balances and time deposits with maturities of three months or less at 
the date of purchase. Interest on these balances is recorded on the accrual basis and included in Investment income. 
The carrying value of Cash and short-term investments approximates their fair value.

2.6  Financial instruments

2.6.1  Financial assets

2.6.1(a)	 Classification	and	recognition	of	financial	assets

The Group has the following financial assets: (i) financial assets at FVTPL, (ii) held-to-maturity financial assets,  
(iii) loans and receivables and (iv) available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines the classification at 
initial recognition.

(i) FVTPL

A financial asset is classified at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or is designated as such upon 
initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at FVTPL if the Group manages such investments and 
makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s documented 
risk management or investment strategy. 

Attributable transaction costs upon initial recognition are recognised in Investment income on the  
Consolidated Statement of Operations as incurred. FVTPL financial assets are measured at fair value,  
and changes therein are recognised in Change in fair value of investments on the Consolidated Statement  
of Operations. Dividends earned on equities are recorded in Investment income on the Consolidated  
Statement of Operations.

(ii) Held-to-maturity financial assets

If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial  
assets are classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial  
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  
Amortisation of premiums and accretion of discounts are included in Investment income on the Consoli-
dated Statement of Operations. 

(note 2 ContInued)
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Any sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments not close 
to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, 
and prevent the Group from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the 
following two financial years. 

(iii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an  
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the  
effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

For the purposes of this classification, Loans and receivables are comprised of Mortgages and loans, Receiv-
ables from reverse repurchase transactions, Interest and dividends receivable, Receivable for investments 
sold and Other receivables in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  

Receivables from reverse repurchase transactions are carried at their initial acquisition cost with the dif-
ference between the acquisition cost and the selling price being recognised as Investment income on the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. Reverse repurchase transactions are short-term holdings and are 
secured by collateral.

Interest and dividends receivable, Receivable for investments sold and Other receivables in Other assets are 
short-term in nature and their carrying values approximate their fair values.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are not classified in any of the previous categories. 
Certain equity securities of the Group are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. These equities are 
subsequently carried at fair value except unquoted equities, which are carried at cost. Changes in fair value 
other than impairment losses are recognised in Other comprehensive income and presented on the Con-
solidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss). When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative 
gain or loss in Other comprehensive income is transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Div-
idends earned on equities are recorded in Investment income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables at their date of inception. All other financial assets (including 
assets designated at FVTPL) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the con-
tractual provisions of the instrument. Balances pending settlement as a result of sales and purchases are reflected on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet as Receivable for investments sold and Payable for investments purchased.

2.6.1(b)	 Derecognition	and	offsetting	

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, which is normally the trade date. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or 
liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheet when, and 
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

2.6.2  Financial liabilities

2.6.2	(a)	 Classification	and	recognition	of	financial	liabilities

The Group has the following financial liabilities: (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL and (ii) other financial liabilities. 
Management determines the classification at initial recognition.

(i) FVTPL 

The Group’s financial liabilities at FVTPL relate to deposit accounted annuity policies shown under Invest-
ment contract liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Contracts recorded at FVTPL are measured at 
fair value at inception and each subsequent reporting period. Changes in fair value of investment contract 
liabilities are recorded in Gross change in contract liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Operations 
(Note 2.9.2). 



(note 2 ContInued)

(ii) Other financial liabilities 

All remaining financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities which include Investment 
contract liabilities related to the deposit administration pension plans and funding group policies (Note 
2.9.2), Payable for investments purchased, Note payable, Loan payable, Dividends payable and Accounts pay-
able and accrued liabilities. Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly  
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Payable for investments purchased, Dividends payable, Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are con-
sidered short-term payables with no stated interest. The carrying amounts approximate fair value at the 
reporting date.

The Group initially recognised Note payable and Loan payable on the date that they originated. All other 
financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at FVTPL) are recognised initially on the trade date at 
which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

2.6.2	(b)	 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

2.6.3  derivative financial assets 

Investments in derivative instruments are measured at FVTPL and are considered to be held for trading. Derivatives 
are initially recognised at estimated fair value on the date into which a contract is entered. The attributable transac-
tion costs are recognised on the Consolidated Statement of Operations as incurred. These investments in derivative 
instruments are subsequently carried at estimated fair value. Changes in the estimated fair value of instruments that 
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the Change in fair value of investments on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. The Group does not hold any derivatives classified as hedging instruments. Derivative finan-
cial assets and liabilities are reported net under Investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

2.6.4  investment income 

Interest and dividend income are recorded as they accrue, using the effective interest method, in Investment income 
on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Dividend income is recognised on the date the Group’s right to receive 
payment is established which, in the case of quoted securities, is normally the ex-dividend date.

2.7  impairment oF assets

2.7.1  impairment of financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, except those classified under FVTPL, are reviewed at each 
reporting date for impairment and reversal of previously recognised impairment losses. These assets are considered 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more loss events that have an impact that 
can be reliably estimated on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. Objective factors that are considered when 
determining whether a financial asset or group of financial assets may be impaired include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 
•  negative rating agency announcements in respect of investment issuers and debtors; 
•  significant reported financial difficulties of investment issuers and debtors; 
•  actual breaches of credit terms such as persistent late payments or actual default;  
•  the disintegration of the active market(s) in which a particular asset is traded or deployed;  
•  adverse economic or regulatory conditions that may restrict future cash flows and asset recoverability; and 
•  the withdrawal of any guarantee from statutory funds or sovereign agencies implicitly supporting the asset.

2.7.1	(a)	 Held-to-maturity	financial	assets	and	Loans	and	receivables

The Group considers evidence of impairment for Held-to-maturity investment assets and Loans and receivables at 
both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant Held-to-maturity financial assets and Loans and 
receivables are assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively 
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Held-to-maturity financial assets and 
Loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping  
together investments with similar risk characteristics. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recov-
eries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgments as to whether current economic and 
credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. If 
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there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on Held-to-maturity financial assets or Loans and receivables has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in Investment income on the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and reflected in an allowance account against the Held-to-maturity financial 
assets or Loans and receivables.  

When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the 
decrease in impairment loss is reversed in Investment income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

2.7.1	(b)	 Available-for-sale	financial	assets

Impairment losses are recognised in Investment income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations when the  
investment is considered to be other than temporarily impaired. Other than temporary impairment occurs when fair 
value has declined significantly below cost for a prolonged period of time and there is no objective evidence to sup-
port recovery in value. When there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale asset is impaired and the decline 
in value is considered other than temporary, the loss accumulated in Other Comprehensive Income is reclassified 
to the Consolidated Statement of Operations in Investment income. The cumulative loss reclassified amount is the 
difference between the cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss recognised previously in Investment 
income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity securities are not 
reversed.

2.7.2 impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets comprising of Investment in associates, Investment proper-
ties, Property and equipment and Intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine if there is objec-
tive evidence of impairment. Objective factors that are considered when determining whether a non-financial asset 
may be impaired include, but are not limited to, the following: 
•  adverse economic, regulatory or environmental conditions that may restrict future cash flows and asset usage                                       

and/or recoverability; 
•  the likelihood of accelerated obsolescence arising from the development of new technologies and products; and
•  the disintegration of the active market(s) to which the asset is related.

If objective evidence of impairment exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised in Investment income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations if the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value-in-use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Assets which cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of as-
sets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets. 

2.8   investment properties

Investment properties are real estate and real estate fractional units primarily held to earn rental income or held for 
capital appreciation. Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Properties that do not meet these criteria are classified as Property and equipment. Expenditures related 
to ongoing maintenance of properties incurred subsequent to acquisition are expensed. Investment properties are 
initially recognised at the transaction price including acquisition costs on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. These 
properties are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in values recorded in Change in fair value of invest-
ments on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Fair values are evaluated regularly by an accredited independent valuation specialist to reflect market conditions at 
the reporting date. 

2.9   insurance contracts and investment contracts

2.9.1 insurance contracts

Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group has accepted significant insurance risk from the policyhold-
ers by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely 
affects the policyholders.

2.9.1	(a)	 Premiums	and	acquisition	costs

Premiums written from the Group’s Property and casualty and Insured employee benefits operating segments as 



(note 2 ContInued)

defined in Note 2.18 are recognised as revenue over the terms of the policies. The reserve for Unearned premiums 
represents that portion of premiums written that relates to the unexpired terms of the policies and are included 
in Insurance contract liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Life and annuity premiums are recognised as 
income when due.

Costs relating to the acquisition of property and casualty and insured employee benefits premiums are charged to 
income over the period of the policy. Acquisition costs are comprised of commissions and those associated with 
unearned premiums are deferred and are amortised to income over the periods in which the premiums are earned. 
This is shown as Deferred policy acquisition costs on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Policy acquisition costs related 
to unearned premiums are only deferred to the extent that they can be expected to be recovered from the unearned 
premiums. If the unearned premiums are insufficient to pay expected claims and expenses, a premium deficiency is 
recognised by writing down the deferred acquisition cost asset.

2.9.1	(b)	 Receivables	and	payables	related	to	insurance	contracts

Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts are recognised when due and measured on initial recogni-
tion at the fair value of the consideration receivable or payable. Subsequent to initial recognition, Insurance balances 
receivable and Insurance balances payable are measured at amortised cost. The carrying value is reviewed for impair-
ment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, with the impair-
ment loss recorded in Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Insurance balances receivable and Insurance balances payable are derecognised when the derecognition criteria for 
financial assets and financial liabilities, as described in Note 2.6 have been met. 

2.9.1	(c)	 Reinsurance

Reinsurance ceded premiums comprise the cost of reinsurance contracts into which the Group has entered. Reinsur-
ance premiums are recognised from the date the reinsurer has contracted to accept the risks and the amount of 
premium can be measured reliably. The provision for Reinsurers’ share of unearned premium represents that part 
of reinsurance premiums ceded which are estimated to be earned in future financial periods. Unearned reinsurance 
commissions are recognised as a liability using the same principles and are shown under Insurance balances payable 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions are estimated using the same meth-
odology as the underlying losses. These represent the benefit derived from reinsurance agreements in force at the 
date of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Amounts due to or from reinsurers with respect to premiums or claims are 
included in Insurance balances payable or Insurance balances receivable on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Group constantly monitors the credit worthiness of the reinsurance companies to which it cedes and assesses 
any reinsurance assets for impairment, with any impairment loss recognised as an expense on the Consolidated  
Statement of Operations in the period in which any impairment is determined.

2.9.1(d)	 Insurance	contract	liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheet include (i) Life and annuity policy reserves 
and (ii) Provision for unpaid and unreported claims.

(i) Life and annuity policy reserves

Life and annuity policy reserves are determined by the Group’s actuaries and represent the amounts which, 
together with future premiums and investment income, are required to discharge the obligations under 
life and annuity contracts and to pay expenses related to the administration of those contracts. These re-
serves are determined using generally accepted actuarial practices according to standards established by the  
Canadian Institute of Actuaries (CIA). The CIA requires the use of the Canadian Asset Liability Method (CALM) 
for the valuation of actuarial liabilities for all lines of business. The policy actuarial liability reserves under 
CALM are calculated by projecting asset and liability cash flows under a variety of interest rate scenarios 
using best-estimate assumptions, together with margins for adverse deviations with respect to other con-
tingencies pertinent to the valuation. The policy actuarial liability reserves make provision for the expected 
experience scenario and for adverse deviations in experience.

(ii) Provision for unpaid and unreported claims

Provision for unpaid and unreported claims represents the best estimate of the ultimate costs of claims in 
the course of settlement and claims incurred but not yet reported. The provision is continually reviewed 
and updated by management and the Group’s actuaries. Any adjustments resulting from the review pro-
cess, as well as differences between estimates and ultimate payments, are reflected on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations in the year in which they are determined. 
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Provision for unpaid and unreported claims are not discounted, except for the provision on the health insur-
ance contracts issued under the Insured employee benefits operating segment.

2.9.2  investment contracts

Contracts issued that do not transfer significant insurance risk, but do transfer financial risk from the policyholder, 
are financial liabilities and are accounted for as investment contracts. Service components of investment contracts 
are treated as service contracts. Fees earned from the service components of investment contracts are included on the  
Consolidated Statement of Operations under Commissions, management fees and other.

Liabilities for investment contracts are measured at FVTPL or amortised cost (Note 2.6.2). 

The following contracts are the investment contract liabilities of the Group:

(i)   Deposit administration pension plans are plans where the Group’s liability is linked to contributions received, 
plus a predetermined and guaranteed return. The liability related to these plans is carried at amortised cost.

(ii)  Funding group policies are refund accounting agreements which provide for the retroactive adjustment of pre-
miums based upon the claims experience of the policyholder. Under these agreements, any surplus arising is 
set off against future deficits or returned to the policyholder. Any deficit that may arise is set off against future 
surpluses or may be recovered in full, or in part, by lump sum payments from policyholders. As these agreements 
do not transfer insurance risk, funds received under these agreements are accounted for as investment contracts. 
Assets and liabilities arising from these type of policies are measured at amortised cost.

(iii)  Deposit accounted annuity policies relate to policies which do not transfer significant insurance risk but  trans-
fer financial risk to the policyholders. These are measured at FVTPL.

2.10  propertY and equipment

Owner-occupied properties and all other assets classified as Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation and impairment. Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of Property and equipment are recognised as incurred in 
Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write the assets off over their estimated useful lives at the following rates per annum:

Buildings  2.5%

Computer equipment  20% – 33%

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements  10% – 15%

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed regularly, at a minimum at the end 
of each fiscal year, and adjusted if appropriate. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount, it is considered to be impaired and it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. In 
the event of an improvement in the estimated recoverable amount, the related impairment may be reversed. Gains 
and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount, and are 
recognised in Commissions, management fees and other on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

2.11  intangible assets

Intangible assets represent the estimated fair value of the customer lists acquired. These are finite life intangible as-
sets and are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range between 10 to 16 years. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised on the Consolidated Statement of Operations as incurred. 
Management reviews annually the remaining portion of Intangible assets based upon estimates of future earnings 
and recognises any permanent impairment in Amortisation and depreciation on the Consolidated Statement of  
Operations in the year in which it is identified.

2.12  segregated Funds

Segregated funds are lines of business in which the Group issues a contract where the benefit amount is directly 
linked to the fair value of the investments held in the particular segregated fund. Although the underlying assets 
are registered in the name of the Group and the segregated fund contract holder has no direct access to the specific  
assets, the contractual arrangements are such that the segregated fund policyholder bears the risk and rewards of the 
fund’s investment performance.
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Segregated funds are carried at fair value except for mortgages and policy loans which are carried at amortised cost 
and unpaid balance. Fair values are determined using quoted market values or, where quoted market values are 
not available, estimated fair values as determined by the Group. Segregated fund assets may not be applied against  
liabilities that arise from any other business of the Group. The investment results of the segregated funds are reflect-
ed directly in Segregated fund liabilities except for Segregated funds with a guaranteed return where the excess or de-
ficiency of the return on the assets over the guaranteed return is reflected in Investment income on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. For the Segregated funds where the benefit amount is directly linked to the fair value of the 
investments, the Group derives only fee income which is included within Commissions, management fees and other 
on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Deposits to segregated funds are reported as increases in Segregated 
funds liabilities and are not reported as income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

2.13  emploYee beneFits

post-employment benefits  

The Group provides medical benefits to eligible retired employees and their spouses. The Group accrues the cost 
of these defined benefits over the periods in which the employees earn the benefits. The post-employment benefit  
liability is determined by actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method and actuarial assumptions that 
represent estimates of future variables that will affect the ultimate cost of these liabilities. The discount rate used in 
the valuation is based on the yield on high quality corporate bonds at the end of the reporting period.

Actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognised in Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement of  
Operations.

pensions

The Group operates a defined contribution plan. On payment of contributions to the plan there is no further legal or 
constructive obligation to the Group. Contributions are recognised as employee benefits on the Consolidated State-
ment of Operations under Operating expenses in the period to which they relate.

Stock-based compensation

The Group has two stock-based compensation plans for eligible employees, namely the Stock Option Plan and the 
Restricted Stock Plan.

The Stock Option Plan is accounted for under the fair value method. The fair value of stock-based awards is deter-
mined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is amortised over the applicable vesting period as compen-
sation expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations under Operating expenses and on the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity under Contributed surplus.

The Restricted Stock Plan is accounted for under the fair value method. The fair value of each share granted under the 
Restricted Stock Plan is based upon the market price at the date of grant. The estimated fair value is recognised as an 
expense pro-rata over the vesting period, adjusted for the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews its estimate of the number of shares that are expected to become exercis-
able. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, on the Consolidated Statement of Opera-
tions, and a corresponding adjustment is made to Contributed surplus over the remaining vesting period. On exer-
cise, the differences between the expense charged to the Consolidated Statement of Operations and the actual cost to 
the Group is transferred to Contributed surplus. 

2.14  taxation

Current and deferred tax is recognised on the Consolidated Statement of Operations, except when it relates to items 
recognised in Other comprehensive income, in which case the current and deferred tax is also recognised in Other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax is based on the taxable result for the period. The taxable result for the period differs from the result as re-
ported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations because it excludes items which are non-assessable or disallowed 
and it further excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other periods. It is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is generally recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be utilised. 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the lia-
bility is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

2.15  share capital

Common shares

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Treasury shares

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes direct 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified 
and presented under Treasury Shares on the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. When treasury shares are 
sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus 
or deficit on the transaction is presented in Contributed surplus on the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

2.16  leases

The Group is a lessor and a lessee of assets, primarily in connection with office space leases. Transactions where sub-
stantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are transferred from the lessor to the lessee are accounted 
for as finance leases. All other leases are accounted for as operating leases. The Group’s leases are all accounted for 
as operating leases.

The Group’s assets held for leasing are included in Property and equipment and Investment properties. Rental income 
from operating leases is recorded as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. This is shown under 
Investment income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

For leases where the Group is the lessee, payments are charged to Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.17  earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is presented on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and is calculated by dividing net 
earnings by the time-weighted average number of shares in issue during the year.

For the purpose of calculating fully diluted earnings per share, the time-weighted average number of shares in issue 
has been adjusted to reflect the additional shares that would have resulted had all stock options outstanding been 
exercised and in issue throughout the year. When there is a loss, no potential common shares are included in the 
computation of fully diluted earnings per share.

2.18  segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn rev-
enues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components. The Group is organised into operating segments based on their products, services and location. These 
operating segments mainly operate in the financial services industry and reflect the management structure and 
internal financial reporting. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief  
Executive Officer (CEO) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its perfor-
mance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Revenue from the operating segments is derived primarily from insurance 
premium, fees and commission income, investment income and fair value gains and losses on investments.

The Group has four reportable segments as follows:

(i) Insured employee benefits – including group health, life and long-term disability and employer’s indemnity  
 coverage;

(ii) Life and pensions – including individual life insurance, annuities and group retirement income plans;

(iii) Property and casualty – including fire and windstorm (home and commercial property), all risks, liability, 
 marine and motor coverage in Bermuda, Gibraltar and Malta; and

(iv) All other – representing the combined operations of the remaining components of the Group comprising two 
 management companies, two property holding companies, a financial reinsurance company and an invest- 
 ment management services company.



(note 2 ContInued)

2.19  new accounting pronouncements

There are a number of accounting and reporting changes issued under IFRS including those still under development 
by the IASB that will impact the Group for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2012 and subsequently. These 
are summarised below:

iFRS 4, insurance contracts (iFRS 4)

IFRS 4, issued in March 2004, specifies the financial reporting for insurance contracts by an insurer. The current 
standard is Phase I in the IASB’s insurance contract project and does not specify the recognition or measurement 
of insurance contracts. This will be addressed in Phase II of the IASB’s and the U.S. Financial Accounting Standards 
Board’s (FASB) joint project. 

In 2010 the IASB issued its Insurance Contracts (Phase II) Exposure Draft and the FASB issued its Insurance Contract 
Discussion paper. The insurance contract project is considered a “joint project” whereby the IASB and FASB (the 
Boards) discuss common research papers. A due process step for joint projects also involves assessing differences recog-
nised by the two Boards and determining if they can be resolved. Since 2010, the Boards have reconsidered significant  
issues based on feedback received on the IASB Exposure Draft and FASB Discussion paper. In 2012 the IASB expects to 
issue a “Review Draft” or a revised Exposure Draft. The FASB expects to issue an Exposure Draft. The final standards 
are not expected to be effective until at least 2015.

The draft proposals include a number of significant changes in the measurement and disclosure of insurance con-
tracts. The Group will continue to monitor the progress of the project in order to assess the potential impact the new 
standard will have on its results and the presentation and disclosure thereof.

Amendment to iAS 12, income Taxes (iAS 12)

An amendment to IAS 12 was issued in December 2010 that provides a practical approach to the measurement of 
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets when investment property is measured using the fair value model 
under IAS 40, Investment Property. Where entities measure deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets using a tax 
rate and tax base that are consistent with the expected manner of recovery or settlement, the amendment provides a 
rebuttable presumption for investment property measured using the fair value model that its carrying amount will 
be recovered through sale. This amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2012. The 
adoption of these amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group.

iFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (iFRS 10), including:
Amendments to iAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (iAS 27)
iFRS 12, disclosure of interests in other Entities (iFRS 12)
Amendments to iAS 28, investments in Associates (iAS 28) 

IFRS 10, amendments to IAS 27, IFRS 12 and amendments to IAS 28 were all issued in May 2011 to improve consolida-
tion and joint venture accounting. Each standard has an effective date for fiscal years beginning on or after January 
1, 2013.

IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27 and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, by intro-
ducing a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective of the nature of the investee. Under 
IFRS 10, control is based on whether an investor has 1) power over the investee; 2) exposure, or rights, to variable re-
turns from its involvement with the investee; and 3) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount 
of the returns. The adoption of IFRS 10 is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.

IFRS 12 requires enhanced disclosures about both consolidated and unconsolidated entities in which an entity has 
involvement. The objective of IFRS 12 is to present information so that financial statement users may evaluate the 
basis of control, any restrictions on consolidated assets and liabilities, risk exposures arising from involvement with 
unconsolidated structured entities and non-controlling interest holders’ involvement in the activities of consolidated 
entities. The adoption of IFRS 12 will result in additional financial statement disclosure but is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IAS 28 is amended for conforming changes based on the issuance of IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 and the adoption of these 
amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

iFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (iFRS 13)

IFRS 13 was issued in May 2011 and replaces existing IFRS guidance on fair value measurement with a single standard. 
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IFRS 13 defines fair value, provides guidance on how to determine fair value and requires disclosures about fair value 
measurements. IFRS 13 does not change the requirements regarding which items should be measured or disclosed at 
fair value. The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The adoption of IFRS 13 will 
result in additional financial statement disclosure but is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to iAS 1, presentation of Financial Statements (iAS 1)

An amendment to IAS 1 was issued in June 2011 requiring changes to the presentation of items within Other com-
prehensive income. Under the amendments, presentation of items within Other comprehensive income will be sepa-
rately presented based on whether or not the item will be subsequently reclassified into the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The adoption of 
these amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to iAS 19, Employee Benefits (iAS 19)

The amendments to IAS 19 were issued in June 2011. The amendments require full recognition of actuarial gains and 
losses in Other comprehensive income when they occur and no longer recognised on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. Past service costs will be recognised when a plan is amended with no deferral over the vesting period. The 
service cost and finance cost components will continue to be recognised on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
Finance costs will be calculated using interest rates based on high quality corporate bond yields. Furthermore, the 
amendments include enhanced disclosures about the characteristics of the benefits and the risks to which the entity 
is exposed through participation in those benefits.

The amendments to IAS 19 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013. For the year ended March 
31, 2012, the consolidated actuarial gain recognised in Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Opera-
tions is $261,000. Upon adoption, this will be reflected in Accumulated other comprehensive income, a component 
of equity. The actual impact to the Group will be based on actuarial estimates and market conditions that exist at the 
date of transition. 

Amendments to iFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosure (iFRS 7)

Amendments to iAS 32, Financial instruments: presentation (iAS 32)

The amendments to IFRS 7 issued in December 2011 introduce new disclosure requirements for financial instruments 
relating to their rights of offset and related arrangements under an enforceable master netting agreement or similar 
arrangements. The amendments to IFRS 7 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The 
Group is assessing the impact of these new disclosure requirements on its consolidated financial statements. 

The amendments to IAS 32, issued in December 2011, clarify the basis for offsetting financial instruments presented 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The amendments to IAS 32 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014. The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial  
statements.

iFRS 9, Financial instruments (iFRS 9)

IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and amended in October 2010, and is the first phase of a three phase project to re-
place IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 currently provides that financial assets are 
measured at either amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The classification and measurement for 
financial liabilities remains generally unchanged. However, revisions have been made to the accounting for changes 
in fair value of a financial liability attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability. The other phases of this 
project which are currently under development include impairment and hedge accounting.

IFRS 9 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.



3 investments

3.1  Carrying values and estimated fair values of investments are as follows:

   march 31, 2012 MARCH 31, 2011      APRIL 1, 2010 

   carrying Fair Carrying  Fair Carrying  Fair
   value value Value  Value Value  Value

Investments at FVTPL    
 Bonds  79,974  79,974 165,227 165,227 157,790 157,790
 Equities 45,597 45,597 64,769 64,769 79,691 79,691   

   125,571   125,571 229,996 229,996 237,481 237,481      

Held-to-maturity
 Bonds 6,046 6,006 6,276 5,910 6,201 5,451

   6,046   6,006 6,276 5,910 6,201 5,451

Available-for-sale
 Equities 4,177 4,177 4,347 4,347 55,198 55,198

   4,177   4,177 4,347 4,347 55,198 55,198

Loans and receivables
 Mortgages and loans 46,650  47,533 46,320 44,349 61,209 60,145
 Receivables from reverse    
  repurchase transactions 2,700  2,700 17,300 17,300 - -
 Policy loans 61 61 66 66 60 60

      49,411   50,294 63,686     61,715    61,269     60,205

Derivatives    
 Money market futures  -  - 30 30 - -
 Interest rate swaps  (45)  (45) 73 73 - -
 Foreign currency forward contracts (92) (92) (14) (14) - -   

   (137)   (137) 89 89 - -

ToTAl inVESTMEnTS 185,068 (1)   185,911 304,394 302,057 360,149 358,335

(1) The significant decrease in the total investments was due to the transfer of certain investments to Segregated funds as discussed in Note 27. 

Fair values for bonds in active markets are determined using quoted market prices provided by third party indepen-
dent pricing sources. Fair values for bonds when there is no active market are carried at amortised cost, net of any 
provision for losses. 

Fair values for equities are generally determined by quoted market bid prices from the exchange where it is princi-
pally traded. Fair values for equities for which there is no active market are carried at cost, net of any provision for 
losses. Fair values for investments in hedge funds and private equity funds are derived using net asset values from 
the investment manager or general partner of the respective entity. 

Fair values for Mortgages and loans are determined by discounting expected future cash flows using current market 
rates. Receivables from reverse repurchase transactions are carried at their initial acquisition cost with the differ-
ence between the acquisition cost and the selling price being recognised as Investment income on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. Reverse repurchase transactions are short-term holdings and are secured with collateral. 
The carrying value approximates fair value.

Derivative financial instruments derive their value from the underlying instrument and are subject to the same 
risks as that underlying instrument, including liquidity, credit and market risk. Estimated fair values are based on 
exchange or broker-dealer quotations, where available, or discounted cash flow models, which incorporate the pric-
ing of the underlying instrument, yield curves and other factors. 

3.2 Financial assets measured at Fair value on the consolidated balance sheet

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining fair value of financial instruments by valuation techniques: 

Level 1 – Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market. The 

 34  2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report 



2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report      35

investments classified as Level 1 include U.S. Treasury securities and exchange-traded equities. This includes equities 
amounting to $21.1 million which are traded on the Bermuda Stock Exchange, while $4.9 million are traded on the 
London Stock Exchange.

Level 2 – Fair value is based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets. The valuation is based 
on significant observable inputs or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market 
data through correlation or other means. The investments classified as Level 2 include investments in hedge funds, 
mutual funds and all exchange-traded bonds except U.S. Treasury securities.

Level 3 – Fair value is based on valuation techniques that require one or more significant inputs that are not based 
on observable market inputs. These unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s assumptions about the market partici-
pants in pricing the investments. The investments classified as Level 3 include investments in private equity funds 
and unquoted equities.

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value                                        
hierarchy:

march 31, 2012  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

Investments at FVTPL     
    Bonds  14,920    65,054 - 79,974
    Equities  26,091 18,166 1,340 45,597

   41,011 83,220 1,340 125,571    

Available-for-sale – equities  -  - 4,177 4,177
Derivatives   - (137) - (137)   

ToTAl inVESTMEnTS AT FAiR VAlUE   41,011 83,083 5,517 129,611      

    

MARCH 31, 2011  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investments at FVTPL    
 Bonds  192   165,035   -     165,227 
 Equities   31,827   31,616   1,326   64,769 

  32,019   196,651   1,326   229,996 

Available-for-sale – equities  -     -     4,347   4,347 
Derivatives   -     89   -     89 

totaL InvestMents at faIr vaLue  32,019   196,740   5,673   234,432 

    

APRIL 1, 2010  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investments at FVTPL     
 Bonds   2,228   154,462   1,100   157,790 
 Equities  41,161   32,263   6,267   79,691 

   43,389   186,725   7,367   237,481 

Available-for-sale – equities  -     -     55,198   55,198 
Derivatives   -     -     -     -  

totaL InvestMents at faIr vaLue  43,389   186,725   62,565   292,679 



(note 3 ContInued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for financial assets which are  
categorised at Level 3.

 
FoR THE YEAR EndEd MARCH 31, 2012  inVESTMEnTS 

  At FVTpl Available-  
   for-sale 

  Bonds Equities Equities  Total

Balance, beginning of year   -     1,326   4,347   5,673  
Included in Investment income   - - 36  36   
Included in Other comprehensive income  - - (35 ) (35)
Purchases  - 14 299  313
Sales  - - (470 ) (470 )

   -     1,340   4,177   5,517 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2011  INVESTMENTS  
 
  At FVTPL Available-  
   for-sale 

  Bonds Equities Equities Total

Balance, beginning of year  1,100   6,267   55,198   62,565  
Included in Investment income    - (439)  762   323 
Included in Other comprehensive income   - -     (308)  (308)
Purchases   - 1,100   300   1,400 
Sales   (1,100) (5,602)  (1,605)  (8,307)
Transfer to Investment in associates  - - (50,000) (50,000) 

   -     1,326   4,347   5,673 

3.3  receivables From reverse repurchase transactions

The Group’s investment in reverse repurchase agreement contracts are commitments to resell bonds purchased at 
a higher price at a specific future date. Reverse repurchase transactions expose the Group to credit risk from the 
potential inability of counterparties to perform under the terms of the contract. The risk is mitigated by credit risk 
evaluation of the counterparty and holding the securities purchased as collateral. Under these agreements, the 
Group received $2.7 million on April 2, 2012. These receivables were collaterised by two agency notes with a total 
fair value of $2.7 million as at March 31, 2012 (2011 – $17.3 million). Market and liquidity risks and how these risks 
are mitigated are disclosed in Note 14.3.

3.4  derivative Financial instruments

The Group’s investment guidelines permit the investment managers to utilise derivative financial instruments such 
as foreign currency futures, interest rate swaps and foreign currency forwards for yield enhancement, duration man-
agement, interest rate and foreign currency exposure management or to obtain an exposure to a particular financial 
market. These positions are monitored regularly. The Group principally has exposure to derivatives related to foreign 
currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

The net losses arising from the Group’s derivative financial instruments recognised as Change in fair value of invest-
ments on the Consolidated Statement of Operations are as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31 2012   2011

Derivative financial instruments    
 Money market futures      (30) (60)
 Interest rate swaps       (118) -
 Foreign currency forward receivable     (78) (9)

ToTAl nET loSSES FRoM dERiVATiVE FinAnCiAl inSTRUMEnTS     (226) (69)
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3.4.1  Money market futures

Futures provide the Group with participation in market movements, determined by the underlying instrument on 
which the futures contract is based, without holding the instrument itself or the individual securities. This approach 
allows the Group more efficient and less costly access to the exposure than would be available by the exclusive use of 
individual fixed income and money market securities. Futures contracts may also be used as substitutes for owner-
ship of the physical securities. All futures contracts are held on a non-leveraged basis. An initial margin is provided, 
which is a deposit of cash and/or securities in an amount equal to a prescribed percentage of the contract value. 
The fair value of futures contracts is estimated daily and the margin is adjusted accordingly with unrealised gains  
and/or losses settled daily in cash and/or securities. A realised gain or loss is recognised when the contract is closed.

Futures contracts expose the Group to credit, market and liquidity risks. The Group is exposed to credit risks to 
the extent that the counterparties are not able to perform under the terms of the contract. Market risk arises when 
adverse changes occur in the estimated fair values of the underlying securities.

Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Group may not be able rapidly to adjust the size of its forward posi-
tions at a reasonable price in times of high volatility and financial stress. Exchange-traded futures are, however, sub-
ject to a number of safeguards to ensure that obligations are met, including the use of clearing houses, the posting 
of margins and the daily settlement of unrealised gains and losses and counterparty credit risk evaluation. Credit, 
market and liquidity risks and how these risks are mitigated are disclosed in Note 14.3.

At March 31, 2012, the notional amount of outstanding money market futures amounted to $2.5 million (2011 – 
$270 million).

3.4.2  interest Rate Swaps

Swaps are used to manage interest rate exposure, portfolio duration or capitalise on anticipated changes in interest 
rate volatility without investing directly in the underlying securities. Swaps are recorded at estimated fair values 
at the end of each period with unrealised gains and losses recorded in Change in fair value of investments on the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Interest rate swap agreements entail the exchange of commitments to pay or receive interest, such as an exchange 
of floating rate payments for fixed rate payments, with respect to a notional amount of principal. These agreements 
involve elements of credit and market risk. Such risks include the possibility that there may not be a liquid market, 
that the counterparty may default on its obligation to perform or that there may be unfavourable movements in 
interest rates. Credit risk is mitigated by making collateral calls to mitigate exposure and counterparty credit risk 
evaluation. Credit, market and liquidity risks and how these risks are mitigated are disclosed in Note 14.3.

At March 31, 2012, the Group has open interest rate swaps with long positions of $nil and short positions of $nil 
(2011 – long positions of $15 million and short positions of $6 million).

3.4.3  Foreign Currency Forwards

A foreign currency forward contract is a commitment to purchase or sell a foreign currency at a future date at a 
defined rate. The Group may utilise foreign currency forward contracts to manage the impact of fluctuations in 
foreign currencies on the value of its foreign currency denominated investments, or to gain exposure to a certain 
currency or market rate. Forward contracts expose the Group to credit, market and liquidity risks. Credit risk arises 
from the potential inability of counterparties to perform under the terms of the contract. The Group is exposed 
to market risk to the extent that adverse changes occur in the exchange rate of the underlying foreign currency. 
Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Group may not be able rapidly to adjust the size of its forward posi-
tions at a reasonable price in times of high volatility and financial stress. Credit risk is mitigated by making collateral 
calls to mitigate exposure and counterparty credit risk evaluation. Credit, market and liquidity risks and how these 
risks are mitigated are disclosed in Note 14.3.



(note 3 ContInued)

The Group had the following open foreign currency forward contracts:

      march 31, 2012

      notional  notional
      receivable  payable

Australian dollar     1,748 -
Canadian dollar     1,102 -
Eurodollar     1,134 -
Chinese Yuan     9,625 9,625
Indian Rupee     7,720 7,720
Japanese Yen      14,001 -
Malaysian Ringgit     1,001 1,001

      MARCH 31, 2011

      Notional  Notional
      receivable  payable

Australian dollar     - 329
Canadian dollar     2,074 982
Eurodollar     828 -
Singapore dollar     - 417

At March 31, 2012, the U.S. dollar equivalent of outstanding foreign currency forward contracts with long positions 
and short positions amounted to $4.8 million and $2.0 million respectively (2011 – $3.3 million and $1.7 million). 

3.5  accrued interest and short-term cash balances held bY investment managers

Included within Investments at FVTPL are the following short-term accrued interest and cash balances held by invest-
ment managers in managed portfolios.

    march 31	 MARCH 31 APRIL 1
    2012  2011 2010

Accrued interest    913     1,656 2,064
Short-term cash balances 917 2,927 756
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3.6  investment income

  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31 2012 2011

Interest income     
 Bonds – at FVTPL 5,479   5,006
 Bonds – held-to-maturity 364   402 
  Mortgages and loans 2,498   3,416 
 Cash and other 644  203  

   8,985  9,027

Dividend income      
 Equities – at FVTPL  1,582  3,331
 Equities – available-for-sale 360  895

   1,942  4,226

Net realised gains/(losses) on sale of investments      
 Bonds – at FVTPL  1,416  7,570
 Equities – at FVTPL  (2,857) 3,424
 Equities – available-for-sale  35 780

   (1,406) 11,774

Amortisation of premium on bonds  (1,141) (611)
Rental income and other 906  2,111
Impairment charges   
 Bonds – held-to-maturity (310) -
 Equities – available-for-sale -  (15,545)
 Mortgages and loans (401) (1,957)
Deduct: Investment income relating to Deposit administration pension plans  (4,713) (5,924)

   (5,659) (21,926)

ToTAl inVESTMEnT inCoME 3,862  3,101

3.7  change in Fair value oF investments

 FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31 Note 2012 2011

 Arising from: 
 Bonds   4,430 (3,828)
 Equities  (407) (8,943)
 Derivative financial instruments   (226) (69)
 Investment property  6 8 -

ToTAl CHAnGE in FAiR VAlUE oF inVESTMEnTS   3,805 (12,840)



4    investment in associates 

The Group holds equity interests in certain companies incorporated in Bermuda and has significant influence over 
the operational and financial policies of these companies. 

Investment in associates is comprised of:

	 	 march 31	 MARCH 31 APRIL 1
  2012 2011 2010

Investment in other associates    11,404     13,202 13,633
Investment in Northstar Group Holdings Limited -     33,247 -

ToTAl inVESTMEnT in ASSoCiATES 11,404     46,449 13,633
 

 Proportionate share of (loss)/earnings of associates for the year is as follows:

 For the years ended March 31 2012 2011

 Investment in other associates (1,580) 1,312
 Investment in Northstar Group Holdings Limited  (10,617) -

ToTAl SHARE oF (loSS)/EARninGS oF ASSoCiATES (12,197) 1,312

Summarised financial information of the Group’s associates is as follows:

    march 31 MARCH 31 APRIL 1
    2012 2011 2010

Assets    66,888     774,363 289,936
Liabilities    27,121     635,501 230,606
Net assets    39,767     138,862 59,330
Revenue    45,938     132,963 62,412
Net income (loss) (4,035) 67,158 7,654

4.1  investment in other associates

$8.1 million (2011 – $9.5 million; 2010 – $10.3 million) of the Group’s Investment in other associates relates to an in-
vestment in an associate whose shares are publicly traded. The fair value of the Group’s interest based on the market 
price of the associate’s shares is $4.1 million (2011 – $6.8 million; 2010 – $7.0 million). As the fair value is lower than 
the equity of the Investment in other associate, an impairment review and evaluation on the going concern basis 
was performed. The Group believes that the recoverable amount of the investment using the value-in-use method is 
higher than the published fair value because the market price continues to reflect ongoing uncertainty and volatil-
ity to the local economy as opposed to the fundamental long-term value of this investment. The recoverable amount 
under the value-in-use method is also higher than the equity of the Investment in associate.

During the year, the associate discontinued certain operations of which the Group’s share was a net loss of $410,000.

4.2  investment in northstar group holdings, ltd.

As at March 31, 2010, the investment in Northstar Group Holdings, Ltd. (NGH) was classified as Equities – available-for-
sale and was carried at cost of $50 million since fair value could not be measured reliably as a result of the absence 
of an active market for the equity. During fiscal 2011, the Group obtained significant influence over NGH through an 
increase in voting rights as part of an agreement whereby, inter alia, the $16.8 million of promissory notes previously 
due to this affiliate were cancelled; effectively reducing the cost of this investment to $33.2 million. This value, in the 
opinion of management, then approximated its fair value as at March 31, 2011 when the investment was re-classified 
under Investment in associates on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

NGH is a holding company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Northstar Reinsurance Ireland Limited (NRIL), transacted 
life reinsurance business. No new treaties had been written since 2006 and the two remaining treaties were closed to 
new business several years ago. During 2011, NGH and NRIL considered several options with respect to the remaining 
treaties including the novation or recapture of one or both, or retaining the treaties and running off the business. 
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Under the terms of NGH’s shareholder agreement each shareholder is required to cover a shortfall arising from any 
other shareholder’s inability to meet their obligation. Given that certain of the principal shareholders were not  
immediately able to meet their obligations due to liquidity and certain other governance-related concerns, the uncer-
tainties in investment markets and the operational volatility of the business contained in the treaties, the principal 
shareholders decided that running off the business was no longer a viable option. Accordingly, in late 2011 negotia-
tions were concluded with a third party to novate one treaty and recapture the second. NRIL then ceased to do busi-
ness and has now been placed into Members’ voluntary liquidation. 

There are various financial commitments due to NGH from other shareholders which are collateralised by various as-
sets. These assets include holdings in hedge funds and equities, the valuation of which is inherently uncertain and, in 
the case of one major shareholder, recent events have suggested the charged assets may realise values that will not be 
sufficient to satisfy their obligations. The ultimate distribution of capital to the Group is dependent on the collection 
of the amounts due. Accordingly, management has determined that the value of the investment in NGH should be 
treated as impaired to the extent of the likely inability of this one shareholder to meet its aforementioned obligations.

The Group’s proportionate share of this obligation is $10.6 million and this write down has been reflected in the 
Share of (loss)/earnings of associates on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended March 31, 2012. 
The Group intends to pursue the recovery of this write down to the fullest extent under law.

Prior to March 31, 2012, and following the receipt of interim distributions from contributed surplus to NGH share-
holders, Argus received $20.6 million in cash. The residual balance of the Investment in NGH is now represented by a 
fully collateralised and performing three year loan of $2 million to another NGH shareholder and is included under 
Mortgages and loans on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

5 insurance balances receivable

Insurance balances receivable is comprised of:

march 31, 2012  insured   property   
  Employee  life and and  
  Benefits pensions Casualty Total

Due from policyholders, agents and brokers  6,893 1,540 8,165 16,598
Due from reinsurers  1,975 2,950 641 5,566

ToTAl inSURAnCE BAlAnCES RECEiVABlE  8,868 4,490 8,806 22,164

MARCH 31, 2011  Insured   Property   
  Employee Life and and   
  Benefits Pensions Casualty  Total

Due from policyholders, agents and brokers  5,920 952 7,903 14,775
Due from reinsurers  1,309 1,828 460 3,597

totaL InsuranCe BaLanCes reCeIvaBLe  7,229 2,780 8,363 18,372

APRIL 1, 2010  Insured   Property   
  Employee Life and and   
  Benefits Pensions Casualty  Total

Due from policyholders, agents and brokers  4,233 361 4,595 9,189
Due from reinsurers  1,274 - - 1,274

totaL InsuranCe BaLanCes reCeIvaBLe  5,507 361 4,595 10,463



6  investment properties
  

    Fair value

Balance, April 1, 2010    6,949
Additions    -
Fair value gains and losses    -
Foreign exchange rate movements    57

BaLanCe, MarCh 31, 2011     7,006 
Additions    -
Fair value gains and losses    8
Foreign exchange rate movements    (4)

BAlAnCE, MARCH 31, 2012     7,010

The Group’s investment properties consist of a residential apartment and condominium fractional units which are 
held for rental income. Investment properties are stated at fair value.

The valuations of the investment properties were performed as at March 31, 2012, June 16, 2011, and March 31, 2010 
by industry specialists who have recent experience in the location and category of the investment property being 
valued.

The Group enters into operating leases for all of its investment properties. The rental income arising during the year 
amounted to $234,000 (2011 – $176,000), which is included in Investment income on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. Direct operating expenses included within Investment income arising in respect of such properties dur-
ing the year were $220,000 (2011 – $199,000).

There are no restrictions on the realisability of investment properties or the remittance of income and proceeds of 
disposal. The Group has no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop the investment properties other 
than normal service charge arrangements.

7  other assets
        

     march 31 MARCH 31 APRIL 1
   Note  2012 2011 2010

Other financial assets     
 Fees receivable   1,634 1,690 859 
 Receivable from Funding group policies   1,851 1,347 779
 Receivable from NGH   - 1,184 -
 Notes and other receivables   1,258 494 2,981

totaL other fInanCIaL assets    4,743 4,715 4,619 
Income tax receivable   140 53 - 
Deferred tax asset 26  - 1 1 
Prepaid expenses   2,200 1,624 1,546

ToTAl oTHER ASSETS   7,083 6,393 6,166 

Carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these assets.
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8  deFerred policY acquisition costs 

 The reconciliation between opening and closing deferred policy acquisition costs incurred is shown below:
    
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31  2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year  2,135 1,746
Deferral during the year  3,555 3,321
Expense for the year  (3,390) (3,019) 
Foreign exchange rate movements  (5) 87

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR  2,295 2,135

9 propertY and equipment
    
     Furniture
  Land and Computer and other  
  buildings  equipment  equipment  Total

Gross carrying amount       
Balance, April 1, 2010 75,068 24,022 6,739 105,829    
Additions 1,831 1,782 147 3,760   
Acquisition of a subsidiary - 36 4 40
Foreign exchange rate movements 30 29 24  83   

BaLanCe, MarCh 31, 2011  76,929 25,869 6,914 109,712   
Additions 1,639 1,581 34 3,254
Foreign exchange rate movements (1) (2) (2) (5)

BAlAnCE, MARCH 31, 2012 78,567 27,448 6,946 112,961 

Accumulated depreciation    
Balance, April 1, 2010 6,970 16,020 5,183 28,173 
Depreciation charge for the year 2,628 1,869 222 4,719 
Foreign exchange rate movements 28 24 14 66    

BaLanCe, MarCh 31, 2011 9,626 17,913 5,419 32,958  
Depreciation charge for the year 2,475 1,674 210 4,359   
Foreign exchange rate movements (1) (2) (1) (4)   

BAlAnCE, MARCH 31, 2012 12,100 19,585 5,628 37,313   
    
Net carrying amount, end of year    
   As at April 1, 2010 68,098 8,002 1,556 77,656

   As at March 31, 2011 67,303 7,956 1,495 76,754

   AS AT MARCH 31, 2012 66,467 7,863 1,318 75,648

10  acquisition

Effective April 1, 2010, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Fogg Insurance Agencies Limited (Fogg) which 
became a wholly owned subsidiary of Argus Insurance Company (Europe) Limited. Fogg sells property and casualty 
business in Malta. The acquisition provided the Group with business opportunities which create a solid base for fur-
ther diversification outside of Bermuda. The purchase consideration was subject to certain adjustments dependent 
on the persistency of the book of business. The maximum further total consideration payable was not to exceed 
a300,000. The Group initially recognised the maximum amount which was shown under Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities in the March 31, 2011 Consolidated Balance Sheet.

As of March 31, 2012, the Group derecognised the a300,000 contingent liability since the calculated retention ratio 
did not meet the criteria for additional payments.



   Fair value recognised on acquisition

Assets   
Cash   483
Investments  15 
Trade and other receivables  1,391
Intangible assets  2,744
Other assets (1)  41

    4,674
Liabilities  
Accounts payable and other liabilities  (1,572)

nET ASSETS ACqUiREd  3,102

ToTAl pURCHASE ConSidERATion lESS CASH ACqUiREd  2,619

(1) Includes Property and equipment of $40,000 and other miscellaneous assets of $1,000.

There were no acquisitions during the year ended March 31, 2012.

11  intangible assets

Intangible assets are comprised of: 

    Note  Customer’s list

Gross carrying amount   
Balance, April 1, 2010   21,430 
Acquisition of subsidiary 10  2,744
Foreign exchange adjustments   283

BaLanCe, MarCh 31, 2011    24,457  
Additions (1)   251
Foreign exchange adjustments   (57)

BAlAnCE, MARCH 31, 2012    24,651

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 
Balance, April 1, 2010   15,307
Amortisation charge for the year   1,138
Foreign exchange adjustments   44

BaLanCe, MarCh 31, 2011   16,489
Amortisation charge for the year   991
Subsequent adjustment to acquisition price (2)   401
Foreign exchange adjustments   (17)

BAlAnCE, MARCH 31, 2012    17,864

Net carrying amount, end of year    
 As at April 1, 2010   6,123

 As at March 31, 2011   7,968

 AS AT MARCH 31, 2012   6,787

(1) During the year, a subsidiary within the Life and annuity operating segment purchased rights to a customer’s list.
(2) Refer to Note 10.
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12  insurance contract liabilities

 The Group’s Insurance contract liabilities and Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions and unearned premiums are 
comprised of:

march 31, 2012 Note  Gross Ceded  net

Life and annuity policy reserves 12.1  142,325 (7,181) 135,144 
Provision for unpaid and unreported claims 12.2  29,048 (4,392) 24,656

     171,373 (11,573) 159,800
Unearned premiums 12.3  19,559 (10,860) 8,699

ToTAl inSURAnCE ConTRACT liABiliTiES   190,932 (22,433) 168,499

MARCH 31, 2011 Note  Gross Ceded  Net

Life and annuity policy reserves 12.1  137,909 (8,646) 129,263 
Provision for unpaid and unreported claims 12.2  27,218 (5,112) 22,106

     165,127 (13,758) 151,369
Unearned premiums 12.3  19,436 (10,463) 8,973

totaL InsuranCe ContraCt LIaBILItIes    184,563 (24,221) 160,342

APRIL 1, 2010 Note  Gross Ceded  Net

Life and annuity policy reserves 12.1  140,284 (14,508) 125,776 
Provision for unpaid and unreported claims 12.2  26,022 (3,550) 22,472

     166,306 (18,058) 148,248
Unearned premiums 12.3  18,160 (9,811) 8,349

totaL InsuranCe ContraCt LIaBILItIes    184,466 (27,869) 156,597

12.1  liFe and annuitY policY reserves     

The table below sets out the Group’s Life and annuity policy reserves shown by type of product and by reportable  
segment:

     
march 31, 2012  insured 
    employee  life and 
    benefits  pensions Total

Annuities    -     117,679 117,679
Long-term disability    5,719     - 5,719
Life    -     18,927 18,927

Life and annuity policy reserves    5,719     136,606 142,325
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions     (4,115)     (3,066) (7,181)

liFE And AnnUiTY poliCY RESERVES, nET oF REinSURAnCE   1,604     133,540 135,144

MARCH 31, 2011   Insured 
    employee Life and 
    benefits pensions Total

Annuities        - 112,132 112,132 
Long-term disability    5,439     - 5,439
Life        - 20,338 20,338

Life and annuity policy reserves    5,439     132,470 137,909
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions     (4,079)     (4,567) (8,646)

LIfe and annuIty poLICy reserves, net of reInsuranCe   1,360 127,903 129,263 



APRIL 1, 2010  Insured 
    employee  Life and 
    benefits  pensions Total

Annuities         - 107,718 107,718 
Long-term disability    5,026     - 5,026
Life        - 27,540 27,540

Life and annuity policy reserves    5,026     135,258 140,284
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions     (3,796)     (10,712) (14,508)

LIfe and annuIty poLICy reserves, net of reInsuranCe   1,230 124,546 125,776 

The majority of the Life and annuity policy reserves relate to policies issued to individuals domiciled in Bermuda.
The Reinsurer’s share of claims provisions are not considered impaired as at year end.

The composition of the assets supporting the net liabilities is as follows:

march 31, 2012   Mortgage  land and
 Cash  Bonds  and loans  Equities (1)  buildings   Total 

Annuities 440 39,090 14,929 44,895 18,325 117,679 
Long-term disability - - 1,604 - - 1,604 
Life 2,944 5,788 2,691 4,438 - 15,861

liFE And AnnUiTY poliCY RESERVES,  
nET oF REinSURAnCE 3,384 44,878 19,224 49,333 18,325 135,144
(1) Includes Investment in associates

MARCH 31, 2011    Mortgage   Land and
 Cash  Bonds  and loans  Equities (1)  buildings   Total 

Annuities 675 25,841 12,200 53,791 19,625 112,132 

Long-term disability - - 1,360 - - 1,360 

Life - 5,639 4,005 6,127 - 15,771

LIfe and annuIty poLICy reserves,  
net of reInsuranCe 675 31,480 17,565 59,918 19,625 129,263
(1) Includes Investment in associates

APRIL 1, 2010    Mortgage  Land and
 Cash  Bonds  and loans  Equities (1)  buildings   Total 

Annuities - 19,774 3,583 63,028 21,333 107,718
Long-term disability - - 1,230 - - 1,230

Life - 5,346 5,400 6,082 - 16,828

LIfe and annuIty poLICy reserves,  
net of reInsuranCe - 25,120 10,213 69,110 21,333 125,776
(1) Includes Investment in associates

The Group examines the assumptions used in determining the Life and annuity policy reserves on an ongoing basis 
to ensure they appropriately reflect emerging experience and changes in risk profile. Annually the Group conducts 
a comprehensive review of all actuarial methods and assumptions. Changes to actuarial methods and assumptions 
used in determining Insurance contract liabilities will result in a change to the projected value of policy cash flows 
and therefore, to the Life and annuity policy reserves. The net impact of changes in actuarial methods and assump-
tions was an increase in reserves backing policyholder liabilities of $1.8 million (2011 – $1.7 million). These amounts 
are net of the impact of the reinsurance assets on policyholder liabilities of $7.2 million (2011 – $8.6 million).
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The changes in the net Life and annuity policy reserves for the year are as follows:

       
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31     2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year     129,263 125,776 
Changes due to:
 Issuance of new policies     9,713 10,784
 Normal changes     (5,596) (9,037)
 Mortality/morbidity assumptions     (2,157) -
 Interest rate assumptions     2,780 1,660 
 Expense assumptions     1,141 80

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR                 135,144     129,263  

12.1.1  Key Assumptions – life and annuity policy reserves

The risks associated with insurance contracts and in particular with Life and annuity insurance contracts are com-
plex and subject to a number of variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. 

To recognise the uncertainty involved in determining the best estimate assumptions a Provision for Adverse Devia-
tion (PfAD) is established. The PfAD is determined by including a margin for conservatism for each key assumption to  
allow for possible deterioration in experience and to help ensure the policy reserves will be adequate to pay for future 
benefits. The PfAD assumptions tend to be in the conservative end of the ranges suggested by the CIA. 

In conjunction with prudent business practices to manage both business and investment risks, the selection and 
monitoring of appropriate assumptions are designed to minimise the Group’s exposure to measurement uncertainty. 
The key assumptions and the risk management practices associated with these assumptions are discussed in the  
following table:

 assumption, methodologY and sensitivities   risk management

The Group maintains underwriting stan-
dards to determine the insurability of  
applicants. Claim trends are monitored 
on an ongoing basis. To offset some of the 
mortality risk, the Group cedes a propor-
tion of the mortality risk with reinsurers. 

Mortality and morbidity are monitored 
regularly. 

The Group’s policy of closely matching  
the cash flows of assets with those of the 
corresponding liabilities is designed to 
mitigate the Group’s exposure to future 

(a)  Mortality and morbidity risk 

Mortality refers to the likelihood of death. The mor-
tality assumption is based on industry standard life 
insurance and standard annuity past and emerging  
experience. The Group’s life insurance and annuity 
business is not sufficient to use company specific mor-
tality tables.

A five percent decrease in the best estimate assump-
tion for annuitant mortality would increase the policy  
reserves by $1.98 million, 1.65 percent (2011 – $1.94 
million, 1.67 percent). 

Morbidity refers to the incidence of accident and sick-
ness as well as the recovery from the incidence. The 
morbidity assumptions are based on the industry 
standard morbidity tables for the long-term disability 
business. The frequency of claims is low and the risk is 
substantially reinsured. 

(b)  Investment returns and interest rate risk 

Assets are allocated to the different business segments. 
For each significant operating segment, CALM is used 
to project the cash flows from the supporting assets 
and the cash flows from the liabilities. The projected 



(note 12 ContInued)

 assumption, methodologY and sensitivities   risk management

changes in interest rates. The interest rate 
risk positions in business segments are 
monitored on an ongoing basis. Under 
CALM, the re-investment rate is developed 
using interest rate scenario testing and  
reflects the interest rate risk positions.

Bonds, equities, real estate and other non-
fixed income assets are used to support 
long-dated obligations in the Group’s  
annuity and pensions businesses, and for 
long-dated insurance obligations on con-
tracts where the investment return risk is 
borne by the Group.

For certain policies, the premiums and 
benefits reflect the Group’s assumed level 
of future credit losses at contract incep-
tion or most recent contract adjustment 
date. The Group holds explicit provisions 
in actuarial liabilities for credit risk in-
cluding PfAD.

The Group prices its products to cover the 
expected costs of servicing and maintain-
ing them. In addition, the Group moni-
tors expenses quarterly, including com-
parisons of actual expenses to expense 
allowances used in pricing and valuation.
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asset cash flows are combined with the projected cash 
flows from future asset sales and purchases to deter-
mine the expected investment returns for all future 
years.

The CIA prescribes several representative reinvestment 
scenarios for use in CALM to determine the sensitiv-
ity of the Group’s business to possible reinvestment 
risk. These represent a wide variety of interest rate 
scenarios. To provide a representative example a one 
percent increase in the best estimate investment re-
turn assumption decreases the total Life and annuity 
policy reserves by $11.1 million (2011 – $10.6 million). 
A one percent decrease in the best estimate assump-
tion increases the total Life and annuity policy reserves 
by $13.0 million (2011 – $12.5 million). 

(c)  Credit risk

Credit risk is provided for by reducing investment 
yields assumed in the calculation of the policy re-
serves. Past Group and industry experience over the 
long term, in addition to ongoing reviews of the  
current portfolio, are used to project credit losses. In 
addition to the allowances for losses on invested assets 
due to interest rate risk, the policy reserves include a 
provision of $1.0 million (2011 – $1.2 million) to pro-
vide for future asset defaults and loss of asset value on 
current assets and future purchases.

(d)  Expenses 

Operating expense assumptions reflect the projected 
costs of servicing and maintaining the in-force policies. 

The assumptions are derived from internal reviews of 
operating costs and include an allowance for inflation.

A ten percent increase in the best estimate assumption 
for unit expenses would increase the policy reserves by 
approximately $0.7 million (2011 – $0.6 million).
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12.2  provision For unpaid and unreported claims               

The table below sets out the Provision for unpaid and unreported claims shown by type of product and by reportable 
segment. The majority of these insurance contracts are of a short-term nature.

march 31, 2012  insured  property  
  employee  and
  benefits casualty  Total

Healthcare  15,083 - 15,083 
Fire  - 713 713 
Motor  - 10,150 10,150
Accident and liability  - 2,653 2,653 
Marine  - 449 449

Provision for unpaid and unreported claims  15,083 13,965 29,048
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions   (20) (4,372) (4,392)

pRoViSion FoR UnpAid And UnREpoRTEd ClAiMS, 
nET oF REinSURAnCE  15,063 9,593 24,656
   

MARCH 31, 2011  Insured  Property  
  employee  and
  benefits  casualty Total

Healthcare  13,556 - 13,556 
Fire  - 2,364 2,364 
Motor  - 9,214 9,214
Accident and liability  - 1,864 1,864 
Marine  - 220 220

Provision for unpaid and unreported claims  13,556 13,662 27,218
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions   (20) (5,092) (5,112)

provIsIon for unpaId and unreported CLaIMs, 
net of reInsuranCe  13,536 8,570 22,106
   

APRIL 1, 2010  Insured  Property  
  employee  and
  benefits  casualty Total

Healthcare  13,674 - 13,674 
Fire  - 1,778 1,778
Motor  - 8,022 8,022
Accident and liability  - 2,460 2,460 
Marine  - 88 88

Provision for unpaid and unreported claims  13,674 12,348 26,022
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions   (2) (3,548) (3,550)

provIsIon for unpaId and unreported CLaIMs, 
net of reInsuranCe  13,672 8,800 22,472   
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The reconciliation of the Provision for unpaid and unreported claims is as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31  2012 2011 

    provisions for Reinsurers’  Provisions for Reinsurers’ 
    unpaid and share of  unpaid and share of
    unreported claims  unreported claims
    claims provisions net claims provisions Net

Balance, beginning of year 27,218 (5,112) 22,106 26,022 (3,550) 22,472 

Claims and adjustment expenses incurred  
   Current year 94,069 (5,737) 88,332 88,288 (5,306) 82,982
   Prior years (1,122) (63) (1,185) 943 (1,694) (751)
   Foreign exchange adjustments (26) 6 (20) 436 (95) 341

Total Claims and adjustment  
 expenses incurred 92,921 (5,794) 87,127 89,667 (7,095) 82,572

Claims and adjustment expenses paid  
   Current year (74,095) 4,380 (69,715) (71,306) 3,658 (67,648)
   Prior years (16,996) 2,134 (14,862) (17,165) 1,875 (15,290)

Total Claims and adjustment 
 expenses paid (91,091) 6,514 (84,577) (88,471) 5,533 (82,938)

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR 29,048 (4,392) 24,656 27,218 (5,112) 22,106
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The Group has policies and procedures in 
place to reduce the risk exposure, which 
includes strict claims review policies to 
assess all new and ongoing claims, regu-
lar detailed review of claims handling 
procedures and frequent investigation of 
possible fraudulent claims. Further, the 
Group enforces a policy of actively man-
aging and promptly pursuing claims, in 
order to reduce its exposure to unpredict-
able future developments that can nega-
tively impact the business.

The Group has also limited its exposure 
by imposing maximum claim amounts 
on certain contracts as well as the use 
of reinsurance arrangements in order 
to limit exposure to catastrophic events 
(e.g., hurricanes, earthquakes and flood 
damage). The purpose of these under-
writing and reinsurance strategies is to 
limit exposure to catastrophes based on 
the Group’s risk appetite as determined 
by management.

Estimates of losses are continually re-
viewed and modified to reflect current 
conditions. Although management be-
lieves, based on the recommendations of 
the Group’s actuaries, that the Provision 
for unpaid and unreported claims will 
be adequate to cover the ultimate cost of 
losses to the balance sheet date, the provi-
sion is necessarily an estimate and claims 
may ultimately be settled for greater or 
lesser amounts. It is reasonably possible 
that management will revise this esti-
mate significantly in the near term. Any 
subsequent differences are recorded in 
the Gross change in contract liabilities 
on the Consolidated Statement of Opera-
tions in the period in which they are de-
termined.

The risks associated with insurance contracts are com-
plex and subject to a number of variables that compli-
cate quantitative sensitivity analysis. Uncertainty over 
the timing and amount of future claim payments neces-
sitate the holding of significant reserves for liabilities 
that may only emerge a number of accounting periods 
later.

The key assumptions underlying the application of the 
actuarial methods and the estimate of unpaid claim 
liabilities are the expected development of paid and 
reported losses and the derivation of initial expected 
losses. Paid and reported loss development patterns 
are based on the Group’s historical claims experience. 
These patterns are updated as of each annual evaluation 
to incorporate and reflect the most recent claims expe-
rience. The estimate of initial expected losses is most 
significant for immature policy periods, where it is 
given the greatest weight in determining unpaid claim  
liabilities. Initial expected losses are derived based on 
the Group’s historical experience adjusted for the im-
pact of inflationary trends on loss costs and the impact 
of historical changes in rates charged to policyhold-
ers. As the experience in each policy year matures, the 
weight assigned to the initial expected losses decreases 
with greater weight assigned to actual loss experience.

The actuarial analysis performed by the Group’s ac-
tuaries employs commonly used actuarial techniques 
for estimating the Group’s Provision for unpaid and 
unreported claims. These include the Paid Loss Devel-
opment Method, Reported Loss Development Method, 
the Bornhuetter-Ferguson Method (applied to both paid 
and reported losses), and the Case Reserve Development 
Method. The particular methods employed in the analy-
sis of each reserve segment are judgmentally selected 
based on the applicability of each method and the avail-
ability of data to use each particular method.

There have been no material changes in the assump-
tions or methodology underlying the actuarial analysis 
in the year under review.
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 assumption, methodologY and sensitivities   risk management

12.2.1  Key Assumptions – provision for unpaid and unreported claims



(note 12 ContInued)
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12.2.2  Claims development Table

The following tables show the estimates of cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and incurred 
but not reported (IBNR) reserves for each successive accident year at each reporting date, together with cumulative 
payments to date. 

The tables below excludes claims information arising from the group health insurance policies issued by the Insured 
employee benefits operating segment. The amount and timing of the claims from these policies are typically resolved 
within one year.

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional rules of IFRS 4 that permit a first-time adopter to not disclose infor-
mation about claims development that occurred earlier than five years before the end of the financial year in which 
it applies IFRS 4. This will be developed in each succeeding additional year, until ten years of information is included.

Gross claims:

   2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total
Accident year: and prior     

Estimate of ultimate liability (1)       
 as at end of accident year 82,406  10,194   13,221   15,711   15,942  -
 one year later 80,730  10,067  13,353   14,763 -  -
    two years later 81,340  11,701   13,094   -  -  -  
 three years later 83,335  11,398   -   -  -  -
 four years later 83,925  -   -   -  - -

Current estimate of cumulative liability 83,925  11,398   13,094   14,763  15,942  139,122 
Cumulative payments to date (81,141)  (9,939)  (10,788)   (12,643)  (8,651) (123,162)

ToTAl GRoSS liABiliTY (2) 2,784  1,459  2,306   2,120  7,291  15,960 

Net claims:

   2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total
Accident year: and prior     

Estimate of net ultimate liability (1)       
   as at end of accident year 48,264  7,649   10,801   11,973   12,642  -
 one year later 48,777  7,554  10,758   11,085  -  -
    two years later 49,272  7,398   10,124   -  -  - 
 three years later 50,486  7,399   -   -  -  -
 four years later 50,698  -   -   -  - -

Current estimate of net cumulative liability 50,698  7,399   10,124   11,085  12,642  91,948 
Cumulative payments to date (48,576)  (6,818)  (8,626)   (9,467)  (6,873)  (80,360)

ToTAl nET liABiliTY (3) 2,122  581  1,498   1,618  5,769  11,588

(1)  Adjusted for revaluation of foreign currencies at the exchange rate as at year end.
(2)  This represents the Provision for unpaid and unreported claims on the Consolidated Balance Sheet less the provision related to the group health insurance 

contracts amounting to $13,088,000. 
(3)  This represents the provision as discussed in (2) net of reinsurance of $4,372,000 which is the Reinsurer’s share of claims provisions of $4,392,000 less amounts 

related to the group health insurance contracts of $20,000.



12.3  unearned premiums 
         

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31  2012   2011 

  Reinsurer’s   Reinsurer’s   
  share of   share of   
 Unearned Unearned  Unearned Unearned
 premiums premiums net premiums premiums Net

Balance, beginning of year 19,436   10,463   8,973   18,160   9,811   8,349 
Premiums written during the year  167,985 42,507 125,478 157,087   41,175   115,912 
Premiums earned during the year (167,862) (42,110) (125,752) (155,811)  (40,523)  (115,288)

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR 19,559 10,860 8,699   19,436   10,463   8,973 

The Group is exposed to a pricing risk to the extent that unearned premiums are insufficient to meet the related 
future policy cost. Evaluations are performed regularly to estimate future claim costs, related expenses, and expected 
profit in relation to unearned premiums. There was no premium deficiency at March 31, 2012 or 2011. 

13 investment contract liabilities      

Carrying values and estimated fair values of the Investment contract liabilities are as follows:   
  
  march 31, 2012 MARCH 31, 2011 

 Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

At amortised cost:      
Deposit administration pension plans  60,967 60,029 182,422  182,313 
Funding group policies  5,935 5,935 4,802  4,802

  66,902 65,964 187,224  187,115 
At FVTPL:     
Deposit accounted annuity policies  2,862 2,862 4,835   4,835  

ToTAl inVESTMEnT ConTRACT liABiliTiES  69,764 68,826 192,059  191,950 

13.1  investment contract liabilities at amortised cost

The fair value estimated for Investment contract liabilities carried at amortised cost is based on the following methods:
• Deposit administration pension plans – approximated by the fair value of the investments supporting the 

liability. 
• Funding group policies – the carrying value approximates the fair value due to the short-term nature of 

these  investment contract liabilities.

The change in Investment contract liabilities measured at amortised cost is a result of the following:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31  Note  2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year    187,224 176,232 
Deposits    81,792 78,967
Withdrawals    (69,872) (67,733)
Transfer to segregated funds  27  (136,889) -
Other net transfers    4,123 1,802
Fees deducted    (4,540) (4,618)
Interest    3,931 4,330
Other    1,133 (1,756)

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR    66,902 187,224

For the year ended March 31, 2012, the net gain relating to investment contracts measured at amortised cost is 
$637,000 (2011 – $3.4 million).
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13.2  investment contract liabilities at Fvtpl

Fair value of the Deposit accounted annuity policies is determined by using valuation techniques, such as discounted 
cash flow methods. A variety of factors are considered in the valuation techniques, including yield curve, credit 
spread and default assumptions, which have market observable inputs. These investment contract liabilities are clas-
sified as Level 2 instruments in the fair value hierarchy. See Note 3.2 for a description of the hierarchy for determining 
fair value of financial instruments.

The change in investment contract liabilities at FVTPL is a result of the following:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31    2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year    4,835 4,058
Included in net income (1)    (184) (175)
Deposits    2,786 3,939
Withdrawals    (4,575) (2,987)

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR    2,862 4,835
(1) Amount is recorded under Change in contract liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

For the year ended March 31, 2012, the net gain relating to Investment contract liabilities at FVTPL is $184,000 
(2011 – gain of $175,000) and is recorded in Gross change in contract liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of  
Operations. 

14  risk management

14.1  governance Framework

The primary objective of the Group’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the Group’s Sharehold-
ers from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial performance objectives, including failing to 
exploit opportunities. Management recognises the critical importance of having efficient and effective risk manage-
ment systems in place. 

The Group has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference from the Board of Directors, its 
committees and the associated executive management committees. This is supplemented by a clear organisational 
structure with documented delegated authorities and responsibilities from the Board of Directors to executive man-
agement committees and vice presidents. In addition, a Group policy framework which sets out the risk profiles for 
the Group, risk management, control and business conduct standards for the Group’s operations is in place. Each pol-
icy has a member of senior management charged with overseeing compliance with the policy throughout the Group. 

The Board of Directors approves the Group’s risk management policies and meets regularly to approve any commer-
cial, regulatory and organisational requirements of such policies. These policies define the Group’s identification of 
risk and its interpretation, limit structure to ensure the appropriate quality and diversification of assets, align under-
writing and reinsurance strategy to the corporate goals, and specify reporting requirements. 

14.2  capital management 

The Group’s capital base is structured to exceed regulatory targets and desired capital ratios, maintain satisfactory 
credit ratings, align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the businesses, provide flex-
ibility to take advantage of growth opportunities and provide an adequate return to shareholders. Capital is managed 
on a consolidated basis under principles that consider all the risks associated with the businesses. It is also managed 
at the operating segment level under the principles appropriate to the jurisdiction in which it operates.

Management monitors the adequacy of the Group and its operating subsidiaries’ capital from the perspective of 
Bermuda, Gibraltar and Malta statutory requirements. The Group maintained levels above the minimum local regu-
latory requirements at March 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 as further described below. The Group’s capital base consists 
of Share capital, Contributed surplus, Retained earnings and Accumulated other comprehensive loss as disclosed on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The operations of the Group are also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which they  
operate. Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive 
provisions (e.g., capital adequacy) to minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the insurance compa-
nies to meet unforeseen liabilities as these arise.

(note 13 ContInued)



The Bermuda Insurance Act 1978 and Related Regulations, the Gibraltar Insurance Companies Act 1987 and the Mal-
tese Insurance Intermediaries Act (the Acts) require the Group’s insurance subsidiaries to meet minimum solvency 
margins.

The statutory capital and surplus and minimum solvency margin of the Group’s insurance subsidiaries are shown 
below:

	 	 	 	 Bermuda	 Europe Total

Statutory capital and surplus    105,259 14,524 119,783
Minimum solvency margin    24,481 5,606 30,087

In addition, minimum liquidity ratios must be maintained whereby relevant assets, as defined by the Acts, must 
exceed 75 percent of relevant liabilities.

Each one of the Group’s insurance subsidiaries meets all requirements of the Acts and there are no restrictions on the 
distribution of Retained earnings.

14.3  Financial instrument risk management

The Group has policies relating to the identification, measurement, monitoring, mitigation, and control of risks  
associated with financial instruments. The key risks related to financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risks which include currency, interest rate and other price risks including equity risks. The following describe 
how the Group manages these risks:
•  Investment portfolios are monitored and reviewed regularly for investment quality with the Board of Directors 

and the Investment Committee of the Board;
•  Credit ratings as determined by recognised external credit rating agencies are regularly monitored to ensure 

these meet the Group’s Investment guidelines;
•  Investment guidelines specify collateral requirements and concentration limits; and
•  Reinsurance is placed with counterparties that have a strong credit rating. Management regularly monitors and 

performs an assessment of creditworthiness of reinsurers.

14.3.1 Credit Risk

The Group has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will suffer a deterioration in perceived 
financial strength or be unable to pay amounts in full when due.

The concentration of credit risk exposures held by insurers may be expected to be greater than those associated with 
other industries, due to the specific nature of reinsurance markets and the extent of investments held in financial 
markets. By the nature of the business, reinsurers interact with similar customers in similar markets. However, the 
Group uses a panel of reinsurers with global operations and diversified portfolios and limits its exposure to any one 
reinsurer.

14.3.1(a)		Maximum	Exposure	to	Credit	Risk

The following table summarises the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk related to financial instruments and 
insurance contracts. The maximum credit exposure is the carrying value of the financial assets and insurance assets 
net of any allowances for losses.

      march 31	 MARCH 31 
    Note  2012 2011

Cash and short-term investments    46,127  26,245   
Interest and dividends receivable    404 850  
Bonds – at FVTPL and Held-to-maturity  3.1  86,020  171,503   
Mortgages and loans  3.1  46,650  46,320  
Receivables from reverse repurchase transactions  3.1  2,700  17,300    
Policy loans  3.1  61  66
Derivative financial instruments  3.1  (137)  89
Receivable for investments sold    -  12,672     
Other financial assets included in Other assets   7  4,743 4,715 
Insurance balances receivable  5  22,164 18,372   
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions  12  11,573 13,758   

ToTAl ConSolidATEd BAlAnCE SHEET MAxiMUM CREdiT ExpoSURE   220,305     311,890  
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Credit risk is mitigated by entering into collateral agreements for mortgages and loans. The amount and type of col-
lateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Management monitors the value of 
the collateral, requests additional collateral when needed and performs an impairment evaluation on a regular basis. 
The Group manages credit risk by its specific investment diversification requirements such as investing by asset class, 
geography and industry, review of credit quality ratings for portfolio investments and an active credit risk gover-
nance, including independent monitoring and review and reporting to senior management and the Board.

14.3.1(b)	Concentration	of	Credit	Risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise from exposures to a single debtor, a group of related debtors or groups of debtors 
that have similar credit risk characteristics in that they operate in the same geographic region or in similar indus-
tries. The characteristics are similar in that changes in economic or political environments may impact their ability 
to meet obligations as they come due.

The following tables provide details of the carrying value of bonds and derivative financial instruments by industry 
sector and geographic distribution.

          march 31	 MARCH 31
          2012 2011

Bonds issued or guaranteed by:     
Banking and finance        13,374 69,592 
Agency       -  33,093 
Federal government       24,427 5,591  
Pharmaceutical       1,294  5,514  
Utilities and energy       4,302  4,767 
Transportation       1,189 2,228 
Communications       2,582  5,937  
Oil and gas       3,094 8,394  
Insurance       3,521  6,806 
Asset-backed securities       12,082  9,394   
Manufacturing       615 5,329  
Mining       1,628  2,746  
Other       17,040 12,112  
Supra National       872 - 

ToTAl BondS       86,020     171,503  
     
Derivative financial instruments issued or guaranteed by:    
Federal government   (45) 30   
Other   (92)  59   

ToTAl dERiVATiVE FinAnCiAl inSTRUMEnTS    (137)     89   



   march 31	 MARCH 31
      2012 2011

Geographical distribution of bonds is as follows:     
United States   72,411  103,734 
Bermuda   3,633  3,651  
United Kingdom   5,335  21,212 
Netherlands   -  6,708 
Germany   - 1,980 
Canada   557  6,253 
France   - 3,274  
Sweden   -  3,457 
Switzerland   -  2,087  
Other   4,084 19,147  

ToTAl BondS    86,020     171,503  

Geographical distribution of derivative financial instruments is as follows:    
 United States   (137) 89

ToTAl dERiVATiVE FinAnCiAl inSTRUMEnTS    (137)     89 

Mortgages comprise first mortgages on real property situated in Bermuda. The following table provides details of the 
carrying value split into residential and non-residential. Residential mortgages include mortgages for both single and 
multiple family dwellings.  

   march 31	 MARCH 31
   2012 2011

Residential 10,350  8,291 
Non-residential 36,300 38,029 

ToTAl MoRTGAGES And loAnS 46,650     46,320

14.3.1(c)  Asset quality

14.3.1(c)(i)		Bonds	and	derivative	financial	instruments	by	credit	rating

The following table provides an analysis of the carrying value of bonds and derivative financial instruments by rating.

   march 31	 MARCH 31
      2012 2011

Bond portfolio quality:     
AAA      11,934 58,531 
AA      38,744 46,519  
A     13,671 37,822 
BBB     9,829 15,856  
BB      5,487 3,903 
B      1,276 1,929 
Not rated      4,162 4,016  
Cash     917 2,927 

ToTAl BondS     86,020     171,503

Derivative financial instruments quality:     
AAA     (45) 103
Not rated      (92) (14)

ToTAl dERiVATiVE FinAnCiAl inSTRUMEnTS      (137)     89 
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14.3.1(c)(ii)	Allowance	for	credit	losses	on	impaired	investments

Mortgage and loans 

Changes in the allowance for credit losses are as follows:

     march 31 MARCH 31
     2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year    25,057   33,100 
Net provision made in year – Mortgages   401     1,957 
Net provision transferred to Equities    -     (10,000)

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR        25,458   25,057

In December 2010, subordinated debt with a carrying value of $15.5 million (net of $10 million provision) was con-
verted to preference shares with voting rights and accordingly reclassified from Mortgage and loans to Equities – 
available for sale. Subsequently in 2011, as a result of the absence of objective evidence to support the recovery in fair 
value, an additional provision of $15.5 million was made to adjust the carrying value of these preference shares to 
$nil.

Held-to-maturity bonds

During the year, the Group recognised $310,000 (2011 – $nil) of impairment provision on a bond portfolio classified 
as held-to-maturity.

14.3.1(c)(iii)		Age	analysis	of	financial	assets	past	due	but	not	impaired	and	impaired

march 31, 2012   past due but not impaired  

  less than  90 to 180 days  Total 
  90 days 179 days  or more Total impaired

Mortgage and loans   141 151 327 619 25,458
Other receivables included in Other assets  26 27 23 76 304

ToTAl 167 178 350 695 25,762

MARCH 31, 2011    Past due but not impaired  

  Less than 90 to 180 days  Total 
  90 days 179 days  or more Total impaired

Mortgage and loans 118 76 265 459 25,057
Other receivables included in Other assets  26 156 11 193 304

totaL 144 232 276 652 25,361

Past due financial assets of $695,000 at March 31, 2012 (2011 – $652,000) do not have an allowance for losses because 
at a minimum, either the fair value of the collateral or the expected future cash flows exceed the carrying value of 
these financial assets.

14.3.2  liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations as they come due.  
The Group’s asset-liability management process allows it to maintain its good financial position by ensuring that 
sufficient liquid assets are available to cover its potential funding requirements. The Group invests in various types of 
assets with a view to matching them with its liabilities. To strengthen its liquidity further, the Group actively man-
ages and monitors its capital and asset levels, diversification and credit quality of its investments and cash forecasts 
and actual amounts against established targets. 

The short-term (less than one year) liquidity needs are more than adequately met by maturing bonds, mortgages and 
loans, the sale of equities, as well as by current operating cash flows. Historically, the Deposit administration pension 
plan liabilities renew for further periods upon maturity and remain with the Group. Longer duration cash flows are 
also backed by a broader range of asset classes including equity and other non-fixed income assets. 

Reinvestment strategies and policies are in place for maturing assets backing longer-term liabilities and are reflected 
in the Life and annuity policy reserves. Based on the Group’s historical cash flows and current financial performance, 



management believes that the cash flow from the Group’s operating activities will continue to provide sufficient 
liquidity for the Group to meet its contractual obligations and to pay other expenses, as they fall due.

Maturity profiles

Asset maturity profile:

The maturity profile of the financial assets and insurance assets by contractual maturity is shown below.

For the derivative financial instruments, the total fair value is disclosed in the “within 1 year” column as the Group 
manages liquidity risk for a trading portfolio of derivatives on the basis of fair value and management believes that 
this presentation more accurately reflects the liquidity of the markets in which the financial instruments are traded 
and the availability of market observable inputs to measure these instruments. 

march 31, 2012 Effective      
 interest rate Within    Carrying 
 ranges 1 year 2-5 years 6-10 years over 10 years value

Cash and short-term investments  46,127 - - - 46,127 
Interest and dividends receivable  404 - - - 404 
Bonds – at FVTPL and Held-to-maturity 0.12%-11.30% 12,544 4,509 19,542 49,425 86,020   
Mortgages and loans 5.64%-9.38% 23,336 12,500 2,911 7,903 46,650 
Receivables from reverse 
 repurchase transactions 0.00% 2,700 - - - 2,700   
Policy loans  61 - - - 61
Derivative financial instruments  (137) - - - (137)  
Insurance balances receivable  22,164 - - - 22,164
Other receivables included in Other assets   2,777 1,966 - - 4,743   

ToTAl FRoM GEnERAl FUnd ASSETS  109,976 18,975 22,453 57,328 208,732  

MARCH 31, 2011 Effective      
  interest rate Within    Carrying
  ranges 1 year 2-5 years 6-10 years Over 10 years value

Cash and short-term investments  26,245 - - -  26,245 
Interest and dividends receivable  850 - - -  850 
Bonds – at FVTPL and Held-to-maturity 0.01%-10.46%  11,345   88,299   35,643   36,216   171,503 
Mortgages and loans 5.64%-9.39%  23,263   11,577   4,463   7,017   46,320 
Receivables from reverse 
 repurchase transactions 0.09%-0.14%  17,300  - - -   17,300 
Policy loans  66  - - -   66 
Derivative financial instruments  89  - - -  89 
Receivable for investments sold  12,672  - - -   12,672 
Insurance balances receivable  18,372  - - -  18,372
Other receivables included in Other assets   3,223 1,492 - -  4,715 

totaL froM GeneraL fund assets  113,425   101,368   40,106   43,233   298,132 
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Liability maturity profile:

The following is an analysis by liability type of the estimated timing of net cash flows based on the Group’s liabilities.  
The settlement profile is based on current estimates and historical trends and the actual timing of future cash flows 
may differ materially from the disclosure below.
    

march 31, 2012  Within 1 year 2-5 years 6-10 years over 10 years Total

Life and annuity policy reserves
 – net of reinsurance   10,727 41,246 45,574 111,696 209,243
Provision for unpaid and unreported claims
 – net of reinsurance  24,656 - - - 24,656
Insurance balances payable   12,751 - - - 12,751
Investment contract liabilities   3,448 10,199 8,022 48,161 69,830  
Tax payable   188 - - - 188
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   14,730 - - -  14,730
Loan payable   6,000 1,843 - - 7,843
Post-employment benefit liability   123 611 1,015 3,461 5,210

ToTAl FRoM GEnERAl FUnd liABiliTiES  72,623 53,899 54,611 163,318 344,451

MARCH 31, 2011  Within 1 year 2-5 years 6-10 years Over 10 years Total

Life and annuity policy reserves
 – net of reinsurance  10,276  39,497 44,924 114,758  209,455 
Provision for unpaid and unreported claims
 – net of reinsurance  22,106  - - -  22,106 
Insurance balances payable   14,613  - - -  14,613
Investment contract liabilities   22,480  24,610 30,851 112,746  190,687 
Payable for investments purchased  20,821  - - -  20,821 
Tax payable  249  - - -  249
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  17,088  - - -  17,088
Dividend payable  2,103  - - -  2,103
Loan payable  6,000  7,843 - -  13,843 
Post-employment benefit liability   116  541 935 3,358  4,950

totaL froM GeneraL fund LIaBILItIes  115,852  72,491     76,710     230,862     495,915

14.3.3 Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market factors. Market factors include three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk.

14.3.3(a)		Currency	Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Group’s expo-
sure to currency risk.
•  The Group regularly monitors the effect of currency translation fluctuations;
•  Investments are normally made in the same currency as the liabilities supported by those investments;
•  The majority of the Group’s assets, liabilities and earnings are denominated in Bermuda or United States dollars;  
 and
•  The assets and liabilities of the foreign operations are held in the functional currency. The net currency exposure 
 arising from the net equity within these operations amounts to £9.5 million and a933,000  (2011 – £7.3 million 
 and a2.6 million and 2010  – £7 million and a1.2 million).

The analysis that follows, showing the impact on equity due to changes in the fair value of currency sensitive mon-
etary assets and liabilities including insurance contract liabilities is performed for reasonably possible movements 
in key variables with all other variables held constant. The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in 
determining the ultimate impact on market risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in variables, variables 
had to be changed on an individual basis. 



  march 31 MARCH 31
   2012 2011

 Change in impact on Impact on
Currency variables equity   equity

GBP +10% 950 730
EUR +10% 93 260

GBP -10% (950) (730)
EUR -10% (93) (260) 
 

14.3.3(b)	 Interest	Rate	Risk

Interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss arising from changes in interest rates. Changes in market interest 
rates can impact the reinvestment of matured investments, as the returns available on the new investment may be 
significantly different from the returns previously achieved. The Group manages these risks through:
•  Asset allocation and diversification of the investment portfolio;
•  Investing in fixed income assets that closely match the life liability product cash flows for products with fixed          

and highly predictable benefit payments; and
•  Quantifying and reviewing regularly the risk associated with the mismatch in portfolio duration and cash flow.

The impact of interest rate risk for the Group’s actuarial liabilities and the assets supporting those liabilities is in-
cluded in Note 12. Management considers that there is no material net interest rate risk on fixed-income investments 
which support non-life insurance liabilities.

The Group issues unit-linked investment policies with and without a guaranteed return in a number of its operations. 
For unit-linked policies without a guaranteed return under Segregated Funds, the policyholder bears the investment 
risk on the assets held in the unit-linked fund. The value of the policy benefits is directly linked to the value of the 
assets in the fund. The Group’s exposure to market risk on this business is limited to the extent that income arising 
from asset management charges is based on the value of assets in the fund. 

For unit-linked policies with a guaranteed return under the General funds and Segregated funds, the Group bears the 
investment risk to the extent that the actual rate of return of the unit-linked funds falls below the guaranteed rate of 
return. For these types of policies, the Group ensures that (i) the liabilities and asset cash flows are closely matched 
and (ii) the valuation of the liabilities and assets are monitored regularly.

14.3.3(c)		Equity	Risk

The majority of the equities are held to back long-term liabilities or those where it is expected that the liabilities will 
renew at maturity at then current market rates. Equity risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets 
arising from changes in equity markets. If actual returns are lower than the expected returns, the Group’s Life and  
annuity policy reserves will increase and will reduce the Group’s net earnings. Overall, it is expected that the impact 
of an immediate ten percent increase in value across all equity markets would be an increase in Net earnings and 
Other comprehensive income of $5.5 million (2011 – $6.9 million); conversely the impact of a ten percent decrease 
would have an equal but opposite effect. The direct exposure to equity markets generally falls within the risk-taking 
philosophy of the Group’s investment policy and is regularly monitored by management.

14.3.4   limitations of sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity information given in Note 14.3 above and in Note 12 demonstrates the estimated impact of a change 
in a major input assumption while other assumptions remain unchanged. In reality, there are normally significant 
levels of correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that these sensitivities are 
non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from these results. Furthermore, 
estimates of sensitivity may become less reliable in unusual market conditions such as instances when risk free inter-
est rates fall towards zero.

14.4   insurance risk management

The principal risk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments or the 
timing thereof, differ from expectations. This is influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual ben-
efits paid and subsequent development of long-term claims. Therefore, the objective of the Group is to ensure that 
sufficient reserves are available to cover these liabilities.
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The risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts. The variability of 
risks is monitored by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of 
reinsurance arrangements.

The Group purchases reinsurance as part of its risk mitigation programme. Reinsurance ceded is placed on both a 
proportional and non-proportional basis. The majority of proportional reinsurance is quota-share reinsurance which 
is taken out to reduce the overall exposure to mitigate both risk frequency and risk severity of the Group to certain 
classes of business. Non-proportional reinsurance is primarily excess-of-loss reinsurance designed to mitigate the 
Group’s net exposure to catastrophe losses. Retention limits for the excess-of-loss reinsurance vary by product line 
and territory.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provisions 
and are in accordance with the reinsurance contracts. Although the Group has reinsurance arrangements, it is not 
relieved of its direct obligations to its policyholders and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance 
to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such reinsurance agreements. The 
Group’s placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single reinsurer nor are the 
operations of the Group substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract. 

For details on insurance risk management policies of the Group’s insurance operating segments, see Note 12.

15  post-emploYment beneFit liabilitY

The Group operates a defined benefit plan which provides medical benefits to eligible retired employees and their 
spouses. The defined benefit liability is calculated using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method. The present 
value of the defined benefit liability is determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using interest 
rates of AA rated corporate bonds that have terms to maturity that approximate to the terms of the related post-
employment benefit liability.

The movement in the defined benefit liability is as follows:      
  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31     2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year     3,625   6,076 
Movements during the year recognised in the Operating expenses:
 Current service cost     111  526 
 Interest cost on benefit liability     179 317 
 Plan amendments and curtailment     -  (4,216)
 Net actuarial gains     261  1,007 
 Benefits paid     (98) (85)

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR     4,078     3,625

Components of the change in benefit liabilities year on year and other employee future benefit expense are as follows:

(i)  Current service cost represents benefits earned in the current year. These are determined with reference to the 
current workforce eligible for benefits and the amount of benefits to which they will be entitled upon retire-
ment, based on the provisions of the Group’s benefit plan.

(ii)  Interest cost on the benefit liability represents the increase in the liability that results from the passage of time.

(iii)  Effective March 31, 2011, the Group’s post-employment medical benefits were amended whereby eligibility, ben-
efits and cost sharing were modified for current active employees.

(iv)  Each year the actuaries recalculate the benefit liability and compare it to that estimated as at the prior year end. 
Any differences resulting from changes in assumptions, or from plan experience being different from expecta-
tions of management at the previous year end, are considered actuarial gains or losses. 

(note 14 ContInued)



The significant actuarial assumptions in measuring the Group’s accrued benefit liability are estimated as follows:

       march 31	  MARCH 31
       2012 2011

Discount rate     5% 5%
Healthcare cost trend rate     8% 7%

The discount rate assumption has a significant impact on the value of the obligation. A one percent increase in this 
rate would reduce the present value of the defined benefit obligation by $515,000.

Healthcare cost calculations are based on trend rate assumptions which may differ from actual results. Changes in 
trend rate assumptions by one percent in either direction will change the healthcare cost as follows:

     Increase Decrease

Aggregate of current service cost and interest cost     21 (17)
Accrued benefit liability     599 (499)

16  insurance balances paYable

Insurance balances payable is comprised of:

march 31, 2012  insured  property    
  employee life and and   
  benefits pensions casualty Total

Due to policyholders, agents and brokers  8 4,526 1,126 5,660
Due to reinsurers  801 1,076 2,742 4,619
Deferred commission income  - - 2,472 2,472

ToTAl inSURAnCE BAlAnCES pAYABlE  809 5,602 6,340 12,751

MARCH 31, 2011  Insured  Property   
  employee Life and and   
  benefits pensions casualty  Total

Due to policyholders, agents and brokers  58 4,359 2,590 7,007
Due to reinsurers  609 1,385 3,342 5,336
Deferred commission income  - - 2,270 2,270

totaL InsuranCe BaLanCes payaBLe  667 5,744 8,202 14,613

APRIL 1, 2010  Insured  Property   
  employee Life and and   
  benefits pensions casualty  Total

Due to policyholders, agents and brokers  303 1,050 1,429 2,782
Due to reinsurers  833 1,293 2,755 4,881
Deferred commission income  - - 1,805 1,805

totaL InsuranCe BaLanCes payaBLe  1,136 2,343 5,989 9,468

2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report      63



 64  2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report 

A reconciliation of the change in deferred commission income is shown below:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31    2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year    2,270 1,805
Deferral during the year    11,681 11,083
Income for the year    (11,478) (10,632)
Foreign exchange rate movements    (1) 14

BAlAnCE, End oF YEAR    2,472 2,270

17	 l o a n 	 p a y a b l e

 march 31	 	MARCH 31  APRIL 1 
 2012 2011 2010

Carrying value 7,843   13,843   19,843 
Fair value 7,843 13,843 19,843

In April 2007, the Group obtained mortgage finance of $30 million from the Bank of N.T. Butterfield & Son Limited in 
order to finance the development of the new corporate headquarters. Draw downs on the facility ceased in April 2009, 
with the total loan principal of $27.8 million, including $2 million of accrued interest which had been capitalised. 
The loan is secured by real estate owned by the Group and co-collateralised by a guarantee from the Company and is 
repayable over five years at $500,000 per month plus interest, commencing on April 30, 2009. Interest is charged at 
the bank’s base rate plus one percent per annum. Interest expense on the mortgage for the year was $528,000 (2011 
– $812,000).

18 earnings per share

The following table reflects the net earnings/(loss) and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31    2012 2011

Net earnings/(loss) for the year  1,696       (6,092)

Weighted average outstanding common shares  21,033      21,032

CoMMon SHARES And CoMMon SHARE EqUiVAlEnTS  21,033      21,032

19  net change in unearned premiums

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   2012 2011

Gross change in unearned premiums   (123)  (1,276)
Change in unearned premiums on premiums ceded   397  652 

nET CHAnGE in UnEARnEd pREMiUMS   274     (624)

20  reinsurance recoveries

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   2012 2011

Claims and adjustment expenses recovered from reinsurers   6,513  5,769
Policy benefits recovered from reinsurers   4,613  3,531

ToTAl REinSURAnCE RECoVERiES   11,126     9,300

(note 16 ContInued)



21 net change in contract liabilities

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   2012 2011

Gross change in contract liabilities:    
Insurance contracts   6,285 (1,471)
Investment contracts   16 477

    6,301     (994)   

Change in reinsurers’ share of claims provisions:    
Insurance contract liabilities   2,180 4,376
Investment contract liabilities    - -

     2,180     4,376   

nET CHAnGE in ConTRACT liABiliTiES   8,481     3,382

22 commissions, management Fees and other

Commissions, management fees and other income recognised during the year are as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   2012 2011

Policyholder administration and investment management services   20,864 19,441
Reinsurance commission income   12,488 11,815

Other income   213 71

ToTAl CoMMiSSionS, MAnAGEMEnT FEES And oTHER   33,565    31,327 

23 operating expenses

Operating expenses incurred during the year are as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   2012 2011

Employee benefits expense (see table below)   22,536 17,594
Professional fees   4,644 6,561
Marketing expenses   1,093 1,094
IT related expenses   2,122  1,869
Building related expenses   2,437 3,719
General and corporate expenses   2,419 2,560
Other expenses   3,756 2,960

ToTAl opERATinG ExpEnSES    39,007    36,357   

Employee benefits expense during the year is comprised of:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31 Note  2012 2011

Salaries and other short-term benefits   21,069  18,959
Pension costs (1)    906 839
Post-employment medical benefits 15  453  1,765
Effect of plan amendments and curtailment  15  -  (4,216)
Stock-based compensation 24  108 247

ToTAl EMploYEE BEnEFiTS ExpEnSE    22,536     17,594

(1)  Pension costs arise from the Group’s defined contribution pension plan covering all full-time employees in Bermuda and Gibraltar.
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24 stock–based compensation

As at March 31, 2012, the Group has two stock-based compensation plans, which are described below. The total 
compensation cost that has been charged against net earnings for these plans for the year ended March 31, 2012 
was $108,000 (2011 – $247,000).

24.1  stock option plans

Under the Group’s 2004 Stock Option Plan, options were granted to key management employees at exercise prices 
not less than the fair market value of the Group’s shares on the date the option was granted. Options become exercis-
able at the rate of 25 percent per year commencing one year after the date of grant and options not exercised lapse 
ten years after the date of grant. The consideration paid by employees on exercise of share options is credited to 
Share capital and Contributed surplus on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Shares under option and option prices per 
share are adjusted for all stock dividends declared subsequent to the date of grant. The fair value of these awards is 
recognised over the applicable vesting period as Employee benefits expense and Contributed surplus. The fair value 
of options on the date of grant was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

At the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on July 26, 2007, the Directors were granted authority to cease 
issuing further stock options under the Group’s 2004 Stock Option Plan and, in its stead, adopted the 2007 Restricted 
Stock Plan as described in note 24.2 below. Stock options granted prior to this date remain valid and the terms 
and conditions of the 2004 Stock Option Plan continue to apply thereto until expiration. There have been no stock 
options granted since 2007.

The following table summarises the activity under the Group’s stock option plan:

 FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   2012 2011 

    Total number  Weighted  Total number  Weighted
    of shares  average  of shares  average

    under option  exercise price  under option  exercise price

Outstanding, beginning of year  362,952 $8.90  431,527  $8.54 
Changes during the year:   
Exercised                             - - -  -
Expired/forfeited  - - (68,575) $6.63

oUTSTAndinG, End oF YEAR  362,952 $8.90 362,952  $8.90

ExERCiSABlE, End oF YEAR  362,952 $8.90   362,952  $8.90

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding is 2.45 years (2011 – 3.45 years). The range of 
fair values of options outstanding is $2.16 to $5.17. The total compensation expense recognised in the current year 
was $nil (2011 – $29,000) and has been included in Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The characteristics as at March 31, 2012, of options granted in earlier years are as follows:

 Number of  Shares

Fiscal year Exercise price Outstanding        Exercisable
     

2003 $7.20 59,617 59,617 
2004 $5.95 57,377 57,377 
2005          $8.95 78,117 78,117 
2006          $9.04 79,260 79,260 
2007          $11.78 88,581 88,581

 $8.90 362,952    362,952

 

24.2  restricted stock plan 

The purpose of the 2007 Restricted Stock Plan is to enhance the Group’s ability to attract and retain the services of 
certain key employees and to incentivise such persons to devote their utmost effort and skill to the growth of the 
Group by providing them with an interest in its long-term growth and stability. Under the Restricted Stock Plan, the 
maximum number of shares that may be granted is 250,000 over the five-year life of the plan.



Shares are granted unvested and vest at the rate of 33 1/3 percent at the end of each year for three years after the 
date of grant. The fair value of each share granted under the Restricted Stock Plan is based upon the market price at 
the date of grant. There were no grants or forfeitures for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011. The total com-
pensation cost recognised in the current year was $108,000 (2011 – $218,000) and has been included in Operating 
expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. At March 31, 2012 there was $nil (2011 – $113,000) of total 
unrecognised compensation cost related to non-vested shares granted under the plan.

25 related partY transactions

All related party transactions were conducted in the normal course of business.

25.1  transactions with signiFicantlY inFluenced investees

25.1.1 The Group provided insurance-related products and services to various significantly influenced investees. 
The premiums and fees received from these transactions totalled $635,000 in the year and are shown as Gross pre-
mium written and Commission, management fees and other on the Consolidated Statement of Operations (2011 
– $695,000).

Receivables and payables arising from insurance contracts and service contracts with the significantly influenced 
investees are as follows:

   march 31	 	MARCH 31  APRIL 1 
   2012 2011 2010

Insurance balances receivable   28   15 15
Receivable from Funding group policies (1)   192   -   - 
Accounts payable arising from administration 
 of the defined benefit pension plans (2)   (472) 82 15
Investment contract liabilities   - (101) (367)

(1) Included in Other assets
(2) (Included)/netted against Accounts payable and other liabilities

25.1.2  The Group rented office premises from a significantly influenced investee paying a total of $454,000 in rent 
and service charges in the year which are shown in Operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations 
(2011 – $453,000).

25.1.3  The Group received facilities management services from a significantly influenced investee for the con-
sideration amount of $1.1 million which is shown net of Investment income on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations (2011 – $1.0 million).

25.2  compensation oF keY management personnel

Key management personnel have been identified as the Board of Directors and Officers of the Company. These indi-
viduals have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. The 
summary of compensation of key management personnel for the year is as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   2012 2011

Salaries and other short-term benefits   1,758 1,380
Post-employment benefits (1)   93 (45)
Stock-based compensation   11 23

ToTAl KEY MAnAGEMEnT pERSonnEl CoMpEnSATion   1,862     1,358 

(1) Includes pension costs and post-employment medical benefits

25.3  directors’ and oFFicers’ share interests and service contracts

The total interests of all Directors and Officers of the Company in the shares of the Company at March 31, 2012 was 
711,080 shares.

With the exception of the employment contracts with Mr. G. D. E. Simons and the Chief Executive Officer, Ms. A. 
S. Hill and a consultancy agreement with one non-executive director, there are no other service contracts with the                   
Directors.
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26 income taxes

Bermuda
Group entities domiciled in Bermuda received an undertaking from the Bermuda government exempting these com-
panies from all Bermuda local income, withholding and capital gains taxes until 2016. At the present time no such 
taxes are levied in Bermuda.

Europe
Subsidiaries domiciled in Gibraltar are subject to normal Gibraltar corporation tax at a rate of 10 percent on all tax-
able profits.

The subsidiary domiciled in Malta is subject to normal Maltese corporation tax at a rate of 35 percent on all taxable 
profits.

26.1  income taxes For the Year

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31    2012 2011

Income taxes for the year  105 197
Adjustments in respect of prior year income taxes  6 (32)

Total current income taxes  111 165
Deferred taxes   1 11
Adjustments in respect of prior year deferred taxes  - -

ToTAl inCoME TAxES   112     176   
    
26.2  current income taxes reconciliation   

Tax applying the statutory domestic income tax rate and the tax charge for the year are reconciled as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31    2012 2011

Earnings/(loss) before income taxes 2,062 (5,497)
Less: Earnings/(loss) not subject to taxes 1,127 (6,474)

EARninGS SUBJECT To TAxES 935     977

Income taxes at the application rate 94 127
Tax effect of:   
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 38 48
 Difference between depreciation and capital allowances 22 2
 Income not taxable (48) (18)
 Income taxed at 15% - (6)
 Effects of transitional provisions under the new Gibraltar   
 Income Tax Act - (20)
 Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous period 5 -
 Provision in excess of assessed tax - 32

ToTAl CURREnT inCoME TAxES 111     165   

26.3  deFerred taxes   

   Deferred  
  march 31 income tax MARCH 31
  2012 (expense)/recovery 2011

Deferred tax asset arising on Property and equipment (1) - (1) 1
Deferred tax liability arising on Property and equipment (2) (11) - (11)

nET dEFERREd TAxES (11)     (1) (10) 

(1) Included in Other assets
(2) Included in Tax payable  



  Deferred  
  March 31 income tax April 1
  2011 (expense)/recovery 2010

Deferred tax asset arising on Property and equipment (1) 1 - 1
Deferred tax liability arising on Property and equipment (2) (11) (11) -

nET dEFERREd TAxES (10)     (11) 1 

(1) Included in Other assets
(2) Included in Tax payable  

27 segregated Funds and separate accounts

The assets for contracts held under the Segregated funds are allocated to Separate Accounts as authorised by the 
Bermuda Life Insurance Company Limited (Separate Accounts) Consolidation and Amendment Act 1998 and the 
Argus International Life Insurance Limited Consolidation and Amendment Act 2008.

 Changes to Segregated Funds and a summary of the investments held therein are as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31 2012 2011

Additions to Segregated Funds  
Premiums, contributions and transfers         129,740 155,480
Net investment income     1,121 2,113
Net (decrease)/increase in fair value of investments    (5,858) 70,367
Segregated funds acquired  12,541 510
Transfer from the General Fund  136,889 -

  274,433       228,470 

Deductions from Segregated Funds
Withdrawals, benefit payments and transfers to the General Fund  90,603 221,563 
Operating expenses    11,880  13,440

  102,483  235,003

Net additions to Segregated Funds for the year   171,950  (6,533)
Segregated Funds, beginning of year  1,162,743 1,169,276

SEGREGATEd FUndS, End oF YEAR   1,334,693 1,162,743

Consisting of:
Bonds   33,964  79,784
Stocks and other investments  1,177,530 998,973
Policy loans 34,126 31,125
Cash and short-term investments   88,747 53,080
Other assets/(liabilities)   326   (219)

ToTAl SEGREGATEd FUndS nET ASSETS 1,334,693     1,162,743
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Effective March 31, 2012, certain policies previously held under Deposit administration pension plans were amended 
such that the related assets and liabilities can be included in Segregated funds. The primary reason is to afford the 
policyholders certain protection from creditors of the Group. As a result of the transfer, the Group has two types of 
Segregated fund products:

   march 31	 MARCH 31
      2012 2011

Segregated funds with a guaranteed return   136,889  - 
Segregated funds without a guaranteed return   1,197,804 1,162,743 

ToTAl SEGREGATEd FUndS    1,334,693     1,162,743

Investments within the Segregated funds with a guaranteed return at March 31, 2012 include $5.0 million of cash, 
$123.2 million of bonds and $8.7 million of receivables from reverse repurchase transactions.

28 operating segments  

Transactions between segments are executed and priced on an arm’s-length basis in a manner similar to transactions 
with third parties. These transactions consist primarily of rental and internal financing agreements and insurance 
contracts. Inter-segment income has been omitted in the following table as immaterial.

28.1  results bY segment  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31   Insured   Property   
    employee Life and and 
    benefits pensions casualty (2) All other   Total

Segment revenues  2012 105,425 25,316 15,739  8,307 154,787  
   2011 99,139 21,679 9,872  7,498 138,188

Investment income (1) 2012 398 5,910 (1,350) 2,709 7,667
   2011 638 4,487 (17,480) 2,616 (9,739)

Amortisation and  2012 483 532 4,328  7 5,350
 depreciation 2011 560 772 3,387  1,138 5,857

Income tax expense 2012 - - 112  - 112  
   2011 - - 176  - 176

Reportable segment
 earnings/(loss) attributable 2012 9,782 922 (10,050) 1,042 1,696
 to shareholders, after tax 2011 7,665 (853) (14,671) 1,767 (6,092)

(1) Includes Change in fair value of investments
(2) Investment income and Reportable segment loss attributable to shareholders, after tax are net of impairment losses arising from the Investment in NGH per Note 

4 (2011 – impairment losses arising from Investments per Note 3.6)

GEoGRApHiC inFoRMATion on SEGMEnT REVEnUES:
      

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31  Bermuda Europe Total

Segment revenues  2012 138,401 16,386 154,787
  2011 124,003 14,185 138,188 
   

 Management considers its external customers to be the individual policyholders and as such, the Group is not reliant 
on any individual customer.

(note 27 ContInued)



28.2  assets and liabilities bY segment:   

   Insured   Property   
   employee Life and and    
   benefits pensions casualty All other Total

march 31, 2012: 
Total General Fund Assets   53,487 254,533 68,776 9,627 386,423
Segregated Fund Assets   - 1,334,693 - - 1,334,693
Total General Fund Liabilities   19,580 224,515 55,846 345 300,286
Segregated Fund Liabilities   - 1,334,693 - - 1,334,693

MARCH 31, 2011:    
Total General Fund Assets    45,098   384,549   81,258  22,554  533,459 
Segregated Fund Assets   -     1,162,743   -  -     1,162,743 
Total General Fund Liabilities   17,115   358,269   58,654 14,926   448,964 
Segregated Fund Liabilities    -     1,162,743   -     - 1,162,743 

29 components oF accumulated other comprehensive income

   march 31	 MARCH 31
   2012 2011

Available-for-sale investments 245  280 
Investment in associates -  305 
Translation of financial statements of foreign operations (1,534) (1,451) 

ToTAl ACCUMUlATEd oTHER CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME (1,289)     (866)

30 commitments and contingencies

30.1  operating leases

30.1.1 Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into non-cancellable commercial property leases on several floors of the Group’s office build-
ings. These leases have remaining terms of between one and four years. All leases include a clause to enable upward 
revision of the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing market conditions.

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at March 31, 2012 are as follows:

Within one year    1,408
After one year but not more than five years    811 
More than five years    -

30.1.2 Group as a lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on office spaces. These leases have remaining terms of between one 
and nine years. Certain leases have a renewal option included in the contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon 
the Group by entering into the leases.

During the year ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 an amount of $988,000 and $909,000 respectively, was recognised in 
Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for operating leases.
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Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at March 31, 2012, are as follows:

Within one year    783
After one year but not more than five years    1,914 
More than five years    1,426

30.2  contingencies

(i)  The Group has a 35 percent interest in a company that built an office building in Hamilton, Bermuda. The 
Group has issued a guarantee in respect of its proportionate share of a term bank loan facility totalling $9.5 
million (2011 – $10.8 million) for this office building. 

(ii)   In May 2009, the Group, Bermuda Life Insurance Company Limited and Argus International Life Bermuda 
Limited (AILBL) filed with the Supreme Court of Bermuda a claim against Tremont Group Holdings Inc. 
(Tremont Group) and Tremont (Bermuda) Limited. The Group bought Tremont International Insurance Ltd 
(TIIL), from the Tremont Group in December 2006, and subsequently changed the company’s name to AILBL. The 
Group continues to pursue a number of claims, amongst them a claim for damages for breach of warranties in 
the purchase agreement due to the overstatement by the Tremont Group of the assets of TIIL.

(iii)  In 2011, the Group has provided a letter of comfort, expiring in September 2012, to Northstar Reinsurance 
Ireland Limited, currently in Member’s voluntary liquidation, to assist them in meeting their liabilities as and 
when they fall due.

(iv) The Group is contingently liable with respect to certain litigation and claims that arise in the normal course of 
business. 

31 transition to iFrs

As outlined in Note 2, the Group has adopted IFRS as a replacement of Canadian GAAP effective April 1, 2010. The 
opening Consolidated Balance Sheet was prepared at April 1, 2010, the date of transition to IFRS in accordance with 
the requirements of IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of IFRS.  

IFRS 1 requires an entity to comply with each IFRS effective at the reporting date for its first IFRS financial statements. 
In particular, IFRS 1 requires an entity to carry out the following on the opening Consolidated Balance Sheet :
• recognise all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by IFRS; 
• not recognise items as assets or liabilities if IFRS do not permit such recognition; 
• reclassify items that it recognised under Canadian GAAP as one type of asset, liability or component of equity, but 

are a different type of asset, liability or component of equity under IFRS; and 
• apply IFRS in measuring all recognised assets and liabilities. 

At the date of transition, the Group’s estimates under IFRS are consistent with estimates previously made under  
Canadian GAAP at the same date, after adjusting for differences in accounting policies.

IFRS 1 requires retrospective application of all IFRS with certain optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions. 

Where the information for retrospective application is not readily available, impractical or is cost prohibitive, the 
Group elected to take the following relevant optional exemptions available under IFRS 1:
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group’s decision

The Group has taken the option to not restate the accounting for business 
combinations or acquisitions made prior to the transition date. As a result, 
no adjustments were required to Retained earnings or other balances.

Property and equipment – The Group elected to use historical cost consistent 
with Canadian GAAP as cost as at the transition date.

Investment properties – The Group has chosen to measure investment prop-
erties using the fair value model as at the transition date. 

Under IFRS, an entity may elect at the transition date to designate a  
financial asset and financial liability as available-for-sale or at FVTPL,                  
provided certain criteria are met. The Group completed the review of the 
current classification of its financial assets and liabilities and decided to 
re-designate all current available-for-sale bonds to FVTPL. This will result 
in volatility in consolidated earnings given that unrealised gains and loss-
es related to these bonds will be recognised immediately on the Consoli-
dated Statement of Operations instead of Other Comprehensive Income.

The Group’s decision is based on the following considerations:
• These bonds are supporting the Group’s actuarial reserves. Re-desig-

nating to FVTPL will result in a more appropriate matching with the 
accounting for the movement in actuarial reserves.

• These quoted bonds became more actively traded in the last quarter of 
the 2011 fiscal year mainly as a result of a change in investment man-
ager and investment objectives.

• The FVTPL designation for these bonds is consistent with IFRS 9,                        
Financial Instruments. IFRS 9 is the latest IFRS on financial instru-
ments which will become effective on January 1, 2015.

The Group has taken the allowed exemption to apply IFRS 2, Stock-based 
payments to all equity instruments granted after November 7, 2002 that 
had not vested as of April 1, 2010, and to all liabilities arising from stock-
based payment transactions that existed at April 1, 2010. 

IFRS 1 includes an optional exemption that if a first-time adopter made 
the same determination of whether an arrangement contains a lease un-
der Canadian GAAP as that required by International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee 4 (IFRIC 4), Determining Whether an Arrange-
ment Contains a Lease, but at a date other than that required by IFRIC 4, 
then the first-time adopter need not reassess that determination for such 
arrangements when it adopts IFRS. 

The Group has taken this allowed exemption.

iFrs 1 optional exemption

(i) Business combinations

(ii) Fair value as deemed cost

(iii) Designation of 
 previously recognised 
 financial instruments

(iv) Stock-based payments

(v) Reassessment of lease 
 determination

The following sections in the Note explain the Group’s transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS:
31.1 Reconciliation of Consolidated Balance Sheets
31.2  Reconciliation of Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
31.3 Notes to the reconciliations
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    Canadian   Effect of IFRS      Canadian  Effect of IFRS 
    GAAP transition   GAAP transition  
     to IFRS(1)    to IFRS(1)

   Note   MARCH 31, 2011   APRIL 1, 2010 

assets         
Cash and short-term investments  32 17,641   8,604   26,245  13,651   8,662   22,313 
Interest and dividends receivable   850  -  850  820  -  820 
Investments  31.3 a, b ; 32  365,688   (61,294)  304,394  389,628   (29,479)  360,149
Investment in associates   31.3 b  -  46,449   46,449  - 13,633  13,633
Receivable for investments sold   12,672  -  12,672 - -   -  
Insurance balances receivable 3.1.3 c, d ; 32  18,835   (463)  18,372 11,522  (1,059)   10,463
Reinsurers’ share of:         
 Claims provisions 3.1.3 c ; 32 5,276   8,482 13,758 3,550   14,508   18,058  
 Unearned premiums    10,463  -  10,463 9,811  -  9,811   
Investment properties  31.3 a  - 7,006 7,006 -     6,949   6,949   
Other assets 31.3 d, e, g  5,091  1,302   6,393  5,318   848   6,166 
Deferred policy acquisition costs  32   723  1,412  2,135  616  1,130  1,746 
Property and equipment  31.3 a  77,735  (981) 76,754  78,580   (924)  77,656 
Intangible assets     7,968 - 7,968  6,123  --  6,123

ToTAl GEnERAl FUnd ASSETS     522,942   10,517   533,459  519,619   14,268   533,887  
SEGREGATEd FUnd ASSETS – on balance sheet  31.3 f -     1,162,743   1,162,743 -     1,169,276   1,169,276

ToTAl ASSETS     522,942   1,173,260   1,696,202  519,619   1,183,544   1,703,163 

SEGREGATEd FUnd ASSETS – off balance sheet  31.3 f  1,162,743  (1,162,743)  - 1,169,276  (1,169,276) -    

liabilities        
Insurance contract liabilities        
    Life and annuity policy reserves  31.3 c, d  134,098   3,811   137,909  129,010   11,274   140,284    
 Provision for unpaid and unreported claims     27,218  -  27,218  26,022  -  26,022    
 Unearned premiums     19,436  -  19,436  18,160  -  18,160 

ToTAl inSURAnCE ConTRACT liABiliTiES     180,752   3,811   184,563  173,192   11,274   184,466 

Insurance balances payable  31.3 c ; 32   12,626  1,987  14,613  9,468   -     9,468
Invesment contract liabilities  31.3 d   187,224   4,835   192,059  176,232   4,058   180,290 
Payable for investments purchased    20,821  -  20,821    -  -    -
Tax payable  31.3 g -     249   249  -     121   121
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  31.3 g; 32 17,392   (304)  17,088  16,006   (121)  15,885
Dividend payable      2,103  -  2,103 2,103   -     2,103
Note payable    -    -  -   16,750  -  16,750    
Loan payable     13,843  -  13,843  19,843   -     19,843
Post-employment benefit liability  31.3 h  3,625   -     3,625  6,076   -     6,076  

ToTAl GEnERAl FUnd liABiliTiES    438,386   10,578   448,964  419,670   15,332   435,002 
SEGREGATEd FUnd liABiliTiES – on balance sheet  31.3 f -     1,162,743   1,162,743 -  1,169,276   1,169,276 

ToTAl liABiliTiES     438,386   1,173,321   1,611,707   419,670   1,184,608   1,604,278   

SEGREGATEd FUnd liABiliTiES – off balance sheet   31.3 f  1,162,743  (1,162,743)  - 1,169,276  (1,169,276) - 

equitY        
Attributable to shareholders of the Company        
   Share capital    16,426  -  16,426   16,436  -  16,436   
 Contributed surplus     52,629  -  52,629  52,382  -  52,382   
 Retained earnings  31.3 j  12,376   1,841   14,217  26,494   2,229   28,723
  Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)  31.3 j 1,036   (1,902)  (866)  2,167   (3,293)  (1,126)

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company    82,467   (61)   82,406  97,479   (1,064)  96,415
Attributable to non-controlling interests     2,089  -  2,089  2,470  -  2,470 

ToTAl EqUiTY    84,556   (61)   84,495 99,949   (1,064)  98,885 

ToTAl EqUiTY And liABiliTiES     522,942   1,173,260   1,696,202 519,619   1,183,544  1,703,163 

(1) Includes reclassification adjustments not arising from the transition to IFRS per Note 32.

31.1        reconciliation oF consolidated balance sheets

(note 31 ContInued)
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    Canadian   Effect of IFRS      Canadian  Effect of IFRS 
    GAAP transition   GAAP transition  
     to IFRS(1)    to IFRS(1)

   Note   MARCH 31, 2011   APRIL 1, 2010 

assets         
Cash and short-term investments  32 17,641   8,604   26,245  13,651   8,662   22,313 
Interest and dividends receivable   850  -  850  820  -  820 
Investments  31.3 a, b ; 32  365,688   (61,294)  304,394  389,628   (29,479)  360,149
Investment in associates   31.3 b  -  46,449   46,449  - 13,633  13,633
Receivable for investments sold   12,672  -  12,672 - -   -  
Insurance balances receivable 3.1.3 c, d ; 32  18,835   (463)  18,372 11,522  (1,059)   10,463
Reinsurers’ share of:         
 Claims provisions 3.1.3 c ; 32 5,276   8,482 13,758 3,550   14,508   18,058  
 Unearned premiums    10,463  -  10,463 9,811  -  9,811   
Investment properties  31.3 a  - 7,006 7,006 -     6,949   6,949   
Other assets 31.3 d, e, g  5,091  1,302   6,393  5,318   848   6,166 
Deferred policy acquisition costs  32   723  1,412  2,135  616  1,130  1,746 
Property and equipment  31.3 a  77,735  (981) 76,754  78,580   (924)  77,656 
Intangible assets     7,968 - 7,968  6,123  --  6,123

ToTAl GEnERAl FUnd ASSETS     522,942   10,517   533,459  519,619   14,268   533,887  
SEGREGATEd FUnd ASSETS – on balance sheet  31.3 f -     1,162,743   1,162,743 -     1,169,276   1,169,276

ToTAl ASSETS     522,942   1,173,260   1,696,202  519,619   1,183,544   1,703,163 

SEGREGATEd FUnd ASSETS – off balance sheet  31.3 f  1,162,743  (1,162,743)  - 1,169,276  (1,169,276) -    

liabilities        
Insurance contract liabilities        
    Life and annuity policy reserves  31.3 c, d  134,098   3,811   137,909  129,010   11,274   140,284    
 Provision for unpaid and unreported claims     27,218  -  27,218  26,022  -  26,022    
 Unearned premiums     19,436  -  19,436  18,160  -  18,160 

ToTAl inSURAnCE ConTRACT liABiliTiES     180,752   3,811   184,563  173,192   11,274   184,466 

Insurance balances payable  31.3 c ; 32   12,626  1,987  14,613  9,468   -     9,468
Invesment contract liabilities  31.3 d   187,224   4,835   192,059  176,232   4,058   180,290 
Payable for investments purchased    20,821  -  20,821    -  -    -
Tax payable  31.3 g -     249   249  -     121   121
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  31.3 g; 32 17,392   (304)  17,088  16,006   (121)  15,885
Dividend payable      2,103  -  2,103 2,103   -     2,103
Note payable    -    -  -   16,750  -  16,750    
Loan payable     13,843  -  13,843  19,843   -     19,843
Post-employment benefit liability  31.3 h  3,625   -     3,625  6,076   -     6,076  

ToTAl GEnERAl FUnd liABiliTiES    438,386   10,578   448,964  419,670   15,332   435,002 
SEGREGATEd FUnd liABiliTiES – on balance sheet  31.3 f -     1,162,743   1,162,743 -  1,169,276   1,169,276 

ToTAl liABiliTiES     438,386   1,173,321   1,611,707   419,670   1,184,608   1,604,278   

SEGREGATEd FUnd liABiliTiES – off balance sheet   31.3 f  1,162,743  (1,162,743)  - 1,169,276  (1,169,276) - 

equitY        
Attributable to shareholders of the Company        
   Share capital    16,426  -  16,426   16,436  -  16,436   
 Contributed surplus     52,629  -  52,629  52,382  -  52,382   
 Retained earnings  31.3 j  12,376   1,841   14,217  26,494   2,229   28,723
  Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)  31.3 j 1,036   (1,902)  (866)  2,167   (3,293)  (1,126)

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company    82,467   (61)   82,406  97,479   (1,064)  96,415
Attributable to non-controlling interests     2,089  -  2,089  2,470  -  2,470 

ToTAl EqUiTY    84,556   (61)   84,495 99,949   (1,064)  98,885 

ToTAl EqUiTY And liABiliTiES     522,942   1,173,260   1,696,202 519,619   1,183,544  1,703,163 

(1) Includes reclassification adjustments not arising from the transition to IFRS per Note 32.

    Canadian   Effect of IFRS
    GAAP transition
     to IFRS

   Note   MARCH 31, 2011 

revenue    
Gross premiums written  31.3 d  160,742   (3,655)  157,087 
Reinsurance ceded    (41,175)  -     (41,175)

Net premiums written    119,567   (3,655)  115,912 
Net change in unearned premiums    (624)  -     (624)

Net premiums earned     118,943   (3,655)  115,288 
Investment income  31.3 b, d, e  3,397   (296)  3,101 
Change in fair value of investments  31.3 i (11,202)  (1,638)  (12,840)
Share of earnings of associates  31.3 b  -     1,312   1,312 
Commissions, management fees and other  32  31,035   292   31,327 

     142,173   (3,985)  138,188 

expenses    
Policy benefits  31.3 c, j ; 32  14,585   477   15,062 
Claims and adjustment expenses  31.3 c  82,716   5,565   88,281 
Reinsurance recoveries  31.3 c -  (9,300)   (9,300)  
Gross change in contract liabilities  31.3 c, d ; 32  3,864 (4,858) (994)
Change in reinsurers’ share of claims provisions  31.3 c  -    4,376  4,376

nET BEnEFiTS And ClAiMS    101,165   (3,740)  97,425 

Commissions expenses    3,234   -     3,234 
Operating expenses  31.3 d, g, h ; 32  36,390   (33)  36,357 
Amortisation and depreciation     5,857   -     5,857 
Interest on loan    812   -     812 

     147,458   (3,773)  143,685 

loSS BEFoRE inCoME TAxES    (5,285)  (212)  (5,497)
Income taxes  31.3 g -     176   176 

nET loSS FoR THE YEAR    (5,285)  (388)  (5,673)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)    
Change in unrealised gains/(losses) on available for sale investments    
   Unrealised gains/(losses) arising during the year  31.3 b, i  1,280   (1,971)  (691)
   Reclassification of realised gains to net earnings/(loss)  31.3 i  (3,226)  3,226   -   
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates    
   Unrealised gains/(losses) arising during the year  31.3 b  -     354 354
   Reclassificaton of realised gains to net earnings/(loss)  31.3 b  -     (218)  (218)
Change in unrealised gains on translating financial statements     
  of foreign operations    815   -     815 

oTHER CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME/(loSS) FoR THE YEAR    (1,131)  1,391   260 

CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME/(loSS) FoR THE YEAR    (6,416)  1,003   (5,413)

Net earnings/(loss) for the year attributable to:    
    Shareholders of the Company    (5,704)  (388)  (6,092)
    Non-controlling interests    419   -     419 

     (5,285)  (388)  (5,673)

Net other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to:        
    Shareholders of the Company    (1,131)  1,391   260 
    Non-controlling interests    -     -     -   

     (1,131)  1,391   260 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to:    
   Shareholders of the Company    (6,835)  1,003   (5,832)
   Non-controlling interests    419   -     419 

CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME/(loSS) FoR THE YEAR    (6,416)  1,003   (5,413)

Earnings/(loss) per share:    
basic    (0.28)  (0.01)  (0.29)
fully diluted    (0.28)  (0.01)  (0.29)

31.2   reconciliation oF consolidated    
 statement oF comprehensive income
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31.3  notes to the reconciliations

31.3(a)  Investment properties

Under Canadian GAAP certain properties held predominantly to earn rental income or capital appreciation were 
included in Property and equipment and Other investments. Under IFRS, these properties are classified as Investment 
properties and are separately shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. These are measured using the fair value 
model. 

The impact arising from the change is a reclassification between asset line items on the Consolidated Balance Sheet:
 

  	MARCH 31  APRIL 1 
  2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet   
Investments  (6,025)  (6,025)
Investment properties    7,006  6,949 
Property and equipment   (981) (924)

nET AdJUSTMEnT    -     -  

31.3(b) Investment	in	associates

Under Canadian GAAP, Investment in associates was included in Investments while the Share of earnings/(loss) of 
associates was included in Investment income. IFRS requires separate disclosure of the Investment in associates  
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and the Share of earnings/(loss) of associates on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations.

IFRS also requires consistency in the accounting period and accounting policies in calculating the Group’s Share of the 
earnings/(loss) of associates. As a result, the Group adjusted its share in the earnings/(loss) of associates for any signifi-
cant transactions occurring between the associates’ and the Group’s reporting period end and also converted the associ-
ates’ equity from its respective GAAP to IFRS. 

The impact arising from the change is summarised as follows:

  MARCH 31  APRIL 1
    2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet  
Investment – reclassification adjustment  (46,665)  (14,792)
Investment in associates – reclassification adjustment  46,665   14,792
Investment in associates – measurement adjustment (216)    (1,159)

nET AdJUSTMEnT To ToTAl ASSETS  (216)    (1,159)

Retained earnings  (138)   (1,328) 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/income   (78)    169

AdJUSTMEnT To EqUiTY  (216)    (1,159)

     Year ended
     March 31
     2011

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income   
Net earnings/(loss) for the year   
 Investment income – reclassification adjustment      (122)
 Share of earnings/(loss) of associates      1,312 

ToTAl iMpACT on nET EARninGS/(loSS) FoR THE YEAR      1,190 

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Change in unrealised gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments
 Unrealised gains/(losses) arising during the year     (383)  
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates   
 Unrealised gains/(losses) arising during the year      354
 Reclassificaton of realised gains to net earnings/(loss)      (218)

ToTAl iMpACT on oTHER CoMpREHEnSiVE inCoME/(loSS)      (247)

nET AdJUSTMEnT      943

(note 31 ContInued)
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31.3(c)   Insurance	contracts	

Under Canadian GAAP, the reinsurance assets related to life insurance contracts were netted against the life reserves. 
Under IFRS, netting of reinsurance amounts against related insurance amounts is not permitted.

The impact arising from the change is summarised as follows:

      MARCH 31 APRIL 1
      2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet   
Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions       8,646   15,332 
Insurance balances receivable       1,828   -   

nET AdJUSTMEnT To ToTAl ASSETS       10,474   15,332 

Life and annuity policy reserves       8,646   15,332 
Insurance balances payable       1,878   -   

nET AdJUSTMEnT To ToTAl liABiliTiES       10,524   15,332

Under Canadian GAAP, the Group netted the income or expense from reinsurance contracts against the expense 
or income from the related insurance contracts. This net presentation was applied to all insurance contracts of the 
Group. In addition, the Group recorded the net change in actuarial provision for unpaid and unreported claims un-
der Claims and adjustment expenses. Under IFRS, the income or expense from reinsurance contracts and net change 
in actuarial provision for unpaid and unreported claims are required to be shown separately on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. 

The impact arising from the change is summarised as follows:

  Gross up 
  reinsurance 
  amounts 
  and others – 
   Property and 
 Gross up casualty
 reinsurance and Insured
 amounts –  employee 
 Life and annuity benefits

Consolidated Statement of Operations   
Policy benefits  3,581   -   
Claims and adjustment expenses -     5,565 
Reinsurance recoveries (3,531)  (5,769)
Gross change in contract liabilities  (6,150)  1,978 
Change in reinsurers’ share of claims provisions 6,150   (1,774)

nET AdJUSTMEnT 50   - 

31.3(d)   Investment	contracts

The Group has reviewed the classification of insurance contracts under IFRS. The classification remains the same with 
the exception of certain annuity contracts which failed to meet the insurance contract definition under IFRS. As a 
result, these annuity contracts are accounted for as investment contracts beginning April 1, 2010.

Under Canadian GAAP, receivables arising from the Funding group policies are included in Insurance balances receiv-
able. As these policies are deposit accounted, these were reclassified to Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
which is consistent with the investment contracts treatment under IFRS.
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The impact arising from the change is summarised as follows:
 

     MARCH 31 APRIL 1
    2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet    
Insurance balances receivable      (1,347)  (779)
Other assets      1,347   779 
Life and annuity policy reserves      (4,835)  (4,058)
Other deposit liabilities      4,835   4,058 

nET AdJUSTMEnT      -     -   

      Year ended
      March 31
      2011

Consolidated Statement of Operations    
Gross premiums written       (3,655)
Investment income        (284)

ToTAl iMpACT on REVEnUE       (3,939)

Deduct:     
Policy benefits        (2,974)
Gross change in contract liabilities        (953)
Operating expenses       (12)

ToTAl iMpACT on ExpEnSES       (3,939)

nET AdJUSTMEnT       -   

31.3(e)    Leases	

IFRS requires that incentives under an operating lease (such as rent-free periods) are recognised as a reduction in 
rental income over the lease term using an amortisation method applied to the net consideration. The Group has 
certain lease agreements where the inception date of the lease term differs from the rent commencement date, the 
date when the lessee occupies the rental space and when the first rental payment is due. The rent commencement 
date is later than the inception date of the lease term.

Under Canadian GAAP, the Group recognised the net consideration on a straight-line basis from the rent commence-

ment date to the expiration date of the lease. The impact arising from the change is summarised as follows:

     MARCH 31 APRIL 1
    2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet    
Other assets      205   95 

RETAinEd EARninGS      205   95 
    

      Year ended
      March 31
      2011

Consolidated Statement of Operations    
Investment income       110

31.3(f)  Consolidation

The concept of control under IFRS required the Group to consolidate segregated funds on the consolidated financial 
statements. As a result, Total assets and Total liabilities of the Group increased with no impact on Equity.

(note 31 ContInued)
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  MARCH 31  APRIL 1
  2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet
Segregated fund assets – consolidation adjustment   1,162,743  1,169,276
Segregated fund liabilities – consolidation adjustment  1,162,743  1,169,276

31.3(g) Income	taxes

Under Canadian GAAP, the Group recorded net amounts arising from income taxes under Accounts payable and  
accrued liabilities and Operating expenses. Under IFRS, these balances are required to be shown separately on the  
consolidated financial statements.

The impact arising from the change is summarised as follows:

       MARCH 31 APRIL 1
       2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet    
Other assets (Income tax receivable and deferred tax asset)    54   -   

nET AdJUSTMEnT To ToTAl ASSETS     54   -

Tax payable      249   121 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      (195)  (121)

nET AdJUSTMEnT To ToTAl liABiliTiES     54   -  

      Year ended
      March 31
      2011

Consolidated Statement of Operations    
Operating expenses       (176)
Income taxes      176

nET AdJUSTMEnT       -   

31.3(h)   Post-employment	benefit	liability

Under Canadian GAAP, a portion of the Group’s post-employment benefit liability was discounted using the interest 
rate inherent in the amount for which the accrued benefit liability could be immediately settled, for example by pur-
chase of an insurance contract such as an annuity. The rate determined was close to the current rate of return on the 
Group’s annuity portfolio. Under IFRS, this method is no longer available. IFRS requires that the discount rate shall be 
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality bonds. This change will 
result in earnings volatility in periods when the rate of return on the Group’s assets differs from the market yields 
on those reference bonds. 

The impact as of April 1, 2010 and March 31, 2011 is negligible since the discount rate used under Canadian GAAP 
approximates the market yield on high quality bonds.

2 0 1 2  A r g u s  g r o u p  H o l d i n g s  l i m i t e d  Annual Report      79



31.3(i)   Designation	of	previously	recognised	financial	instruments

As of the date of transition, the Group elected to re-designate all bonds classified as available-for-sale to FVTPL. The 
impact arising from the change to FVTPL is summarised as follows:

        MARCH 31 APRIL 1
        2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet    
Investments – Available-for-sale bonds       (64,102) (65,076)
Investments – at FVTPL bonds designated as such at April 1, 2010      64,102 65,076
Retained earnings        1,824   3,462 
Accumulated other comprehensive income        (1,824)  (3,462)

AdJUSTMEnT To EqUiTY        -     -  

      Year ended
      March 31
      2011

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)    
Change in fair value of investments       (1,638)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)    
 Change in unrealised gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments    
 Unrealised gains/(losses) arising during the year       (1,588)
    Reclassification of realised gains to net earnings/(loss)      3,226 

nET AdJUSTMEnT       -  

31.3(j)   Impact	to	equity

The following table summarises the net impact of the above changes arising from the transition to IFRS on the 
Group’s equity attributable to shareholders of the Company.

   MARCH 31 APRIL 1
  Note  2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet    
Attributable to shareholders of the Company    
Retained earnings    
 Adjustment from Investment in associates b   (138)  (1,328)
 Adjustment from Insurance contracts c  (50)  -   
 Adjustment from Leases e  205   95 
 Adjustment from Designation of bonds to FVTPL i   1,824  3,462 

nET AdJUSTMEnT    1,841   2,229 
    
Accumulated other comprehensive income    
   Adjustment from Investment in associates b   (78)  169 
   Adjustment from Designation of bonds to FVTPL i   (1,824)  (3,462)

nET AdJUSTMEnT    (1,902)  (3,293)

nET AdJUSTMEnT To EqUiTY ATTRiBUTABlE 
To SHAREHoldERS oF THE CoMpAnY     (61)  (1,064)

31.3(k)   Statement	of	cash	flows

IFRS requires disclosure of Dividend income received, Interest income received, Interest paid and Income tax paid 
on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. IFRS also requires separate disclosure of the effect of foreign exchange 
rate changes on cash and short-term investments. As a result, the Group has separately disclosed these items on the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

(note 31 ContInued)
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32 reclassiFication adjustments

The following reclassification adjustments were made to conform with current year presentation and to correct cer-
tain classification errors in prior years. These adjustments did not arise from the transition to IFRS. The impact of the 
reclassification adjustments to Equity is $nil.

        MARCH 31 APRIL 1
        2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet   
Cash and short-term investments        8,604  8,662
Investments        (8,604) (8,662)
Insurance balances receivable        (944)  (280)
Reinsures’ share of claims provisions        (164) (824) 
Other assets        (304)  (26) 
Deferred policy acquisitions costs        1,412 1,130
Insurance balances payables        109 -
Accounts payable and other liabilities        (109) -

nET AdJUSTMEnT         -   -
  

    Year ended
    March 31
    2011

Consolidated Statement of Operations    
Commissions, management fees and other     292 

ToTAl iMpACT on REVEnUE     292 

Deduct:    
Policy benefits     (130)
Gross change in contract liabilities     267
Operating expenses     155 

ToTAl iMpACT on ExpEnSES     292 

nET AdJUSTMEnT     -

Cash and short-term investments

The Group reclassified certain investments in money market funds from Investments to Cash and short-term invest-
ments. These investments in money market funds are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Insurance balances receivable

a) Prior to reclassification, the Group’s Reinsurers’ share of claims provisions included reinsurance receivables related 
to group life claims. These reinsurance receivables represent actual amounts of claims due from the reinsurers. As a 
result, the Group reclassified these balances to Insurance balances receivable.

b) The Group reclassified certain balances previously presented under Insurance balances receivable to Other assets 
and Deferred policy acquisition costs. The reclassification adjustment is to align the accounting policy on the presen-
tation of the insurance balances receivable on the balance sheets of the Group’s insurance entities.

Insurance balances payable

The Group reclassified certain payables arising from insurance contracts previously included in Accounts payable 
and other liabilities. 

Consolidated Statement of Operations

These reclassification adjustments were made to correct the amount recorded in Gross change in contract liabilities.
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